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Musical Instruments

rough its operating

network of dealers, Steinway Musica
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Fiﬁ&ﬁ@iaﬁ Highlights (In thousands: except per share data)

2004

2003
Net Sales $375,034 $337,220
Operating Income ! 34,241 22,824
Adjusted Operating Income' 36,496 31,826
EBITDA! y 50,842 46,302
Net Income. | 15,867 9,698
Adjusted Net Income' - 17,360 15,765
Earrﬁngs Per Share — Basic v $ 197 $ 1.09
Earnings Per Share — Difuted 1.91 1.09
* Adjusted Earnings Per Share — Basic' $ 216 $ L77
Adjusted Earnings Per Share — Diluted' } 2.09 1.77
Book Value Per Share? $ 1813 $ 1696

2"Book value: per share is defined as stockholders' equity divided by common shares outstanding at year end.

i
i

Pianos

! EB\TDA‘represents earnings before et interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization, excluding Adjustments for non

Change
11%

50%
i5%

10%

64%
10%

81%
75%

22%
18%

7%

Fécurring. infrequent or unusual items. A summary of theseéAdjustments and reconciliations of non-GAAP financial measures to GAAP
can be found on page 76. '

Band & Orchestral Instruments
- Steinway & Sons produces the highest-quality Conn-Selmer is the largest domestic manufacturer

pianos in the world and has one of the most widely - of band & orchestral instruments and related

recognized and prestigious brand names. For over  accessories. The company manufactures a full line of

a century the Steinway concerr grand has been the  musical instruments — from trumpets, trombones,

piano of choice for the world’s greatest and most  saxophones, tubas and French horns to clarinets,

popular pianists. Steinway also offers a complete  flutes, violins, and percussion instruments — and

Essex brand names.

line of mid-priced pianos under the Boston an%:}l has leading domestic market shares in virtually all

of these categories. Some of its most well-known

brands include Bach, Selmer, C.G. Conn, Leblanc,

§ King, Armstréng, Ludwig, Musser, Holton, Martin,
Glaesel, Vito, Scherl & Roth, Emerson, William

Lewis & Son, Noblet, Artley, and Benge.

) ;
AT LEFT: Clayton Cameron, drummer for the Tony Bennett Orchestra
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Dear Shareholders

[twasa dyhamic year at Steinway Musical Instruments, Piano Segm ent

Inc. The excitement of a new acquisition and the  Our piano business had a great year. Overall, piano

beginnirigs of a turnaround in our band business * sales increased $24 million, or 13%. Worldwide

gave us great satisfaction. Not to be outdone,  shipments of Steinway & Sons grands increased 9%

our piano business turned in a truly remarkable and a better sales mix toward our very profitable

perfo“rman‘ce. Occasionally nearly everything that  concert grand pianos helped improve margins. Our

can go right will, and this was one of those years for  German managers, who oversee our operations

the piano business. We experienced growth across  outside of the Americas, did a tremendous job

all segments, and improved margins enabled us to  building our new business in China, allowing us to

reach record profitability. turn a profit in our first year of operations. Sales of

. Ly L our mid-priced pianos also improved, with a 15%
While we made great strides in our operations in 2004, b P P ’

‘ L . ; increase in revenue on a 10% increase in units.
we also dedicated a great deal of time and money
to compliance with the internal control reporting

Institutional sales remain the backbone of our

reQuirements of the Sarbanes — Oxley Act. Like rﬁany efforts to stabilize our business during periods of

other public companies, we found that the resource  economic uncertainty. This decade-long effort is

commitment far surpassed estimates. Since we operate  now in full swing and our roster of “All-Steinway

with a relatively lean finance staff, we had to spend Schools” continues to grow. In 2004, West Chester

over $3 million on professional service fees to ensure  University of Pennsylvania announced its purchase

compliance, which cost us $0.27 per share. Our  of 111 Steinway and Boston pianos. We hit 50

internal staff spent countless hours on SOX-related ~ “All-Steinway Schools” this past year, an important

activities and were happy to say they did it without  milestone for us, and we expect that number to

causing major disruptions to

) s increase even further.
Our piano business had a
our operating units. Wed like ?

. Our factories are producing
to thank them for their hard great year. Overall, prano

, the best-quality pianos ever.
work and dedication. ;

sales increased $24 million, g continue to get better each

or 13%.

This annual report contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934, as amended. Plezzse read “Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” which can be found on page 10 of our Annual
Report on Form 10-K contained in this document.







and every day and are proud of the improvements of these pre-owned instruments are 100% certified

we made this year. We have a great workforce truly by Steinway & Sons. The used piano market holds

committed to the Steinway piano. It’s a labor of . great opportunity for us and we continue to look for

- love, and one visit to our factories will confirm our: new ways to increase our share of that business.

assioh. This ongoing drive toward better quali ) .
— passiol > OngoIne d ty Steinway & Sons has been committed to
— and production improvements helped us reach )
— P P P . world-class customer service for the last 152 years.
record margins of 37.1%, up from 34.2% the prior . .
o & ~ e otiep | Until recently, nearly all of this effort has
ear. For a variety of reasons, margins may not be )
Y ¥ 8 ynot been focused on the purchasers of our pianos.
sustainable at those levels in
o y We have now redefined what
the near term; however, we This OHgOZ'ng drive toward .
' customer service means to
intend to continue to focus . .
‘ better qmz[zz;/ andproductwn our Company and have
on margins for the next several ! o
. ‘ embarked on a mission to
: improvenients helped us reach
years to improve our long- : . .
treat the entire Steinway &
term performance. vecord margins of 37.1%, u . .
: per ‘ g f » up Sons family, which includes

We are excited about our ﬁom 34.2% t/oe_prz'oryear. employees, vendors, dealers

addition of several new and artists, in a manner that

products. In January, we reintroduced the reflects our high standards of customer service.
Steinway & Sons Model A grand piano, a We began this extensive program with our own

piano scale that has not been produced in  employees, addressing improved communication,

4

the United States since 1914. The original dcsigh training, and rewards and recognition. As we
was created as a piano that produced concert haJl expand this initiative, we expect the improved
power, but was appropriately sized for the home.i relationships that we build to become a significant
In addition; we are expanding our product line of competitive advantage.
used and rebuilt Steinway pianos to include the

i
!

Heirloom Collection. The quality and authenticity




AN
\ 2000 United Musical Instruments acquired

—— — R

\\ 1995-1996 Selmer acquires Steinway
Musical Properties; Steinway Musical \
Instruments’ IPO

. 1980s Selmer acquires Ludwig, Musser;
\,  C.G.Conn acquires Armstrong, King, -
\\ and Benge — becomes UMI '

\\ 1900-1930s G. Leblanc acquires Noblet., B
Ludwig, Bach Armstrong and Scherl
T N . & Roth founded

s o m

3T

|8705-I8805 C.G‘ Conn founded in
Elkhart, Indiana; Steinway & Sons
\‘ Hamburg opens

1853 Steinway & Sons pianos
founded in Manhattan loft

1890s Selmer, King and Holton
begin manufacturing

1960s-1970s Selmer acquires Bach,
Glaesel; C.G. Conn acquires Artley and
Scherl & Roth; Leblanc acquires Holton

1991 Steinway introduces
Boston piano line

1997-1999 Steinway Japan opens; .
Emerson, O.S. Kelly, and Kluge acquired B

— F—— =

,/ 2004 Steinway Shanghai opens;
/ G. Leblanc acquired
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Overall, sales from éur band
segment increased $14 million,

Band Segment or 9% this past year. Leaving

core business grew 3%. That’s
Finally, we can see the light mzdeouracqumzwn ofLebkznc,

the first time we've seen growth
at the end of the tunnel. The

. 0 in our core band business
our core business grew 3%.
two-year program to completely ‘ in more than five years.

revamp the strategy of our band business is showing . .
> Acquisitions have always been an important

encouraging results. We took a risk by changin;g

‘ contributor toward the growth of our band
ourdistribution strategy and embracing a number

instrument segment. In August, we had the
of new channels that we ignored in the past.

‘ opportunity to buy the assets of G. Leblanc
Allowing our professional instruments to' be

Corporation at a fair price. Leblanc is a manufacturer
sold on the Internet helped increase sales, and

‘ of high-quality band instruments, best known for
supporting large music retailers also boosted our

: its clarinets and French horns. The acquisition
top line. In order to combat pressures we faced

added five new brands to our portfolio and
from lower-cost manufacturers, we added a'line

: enhanced our market share in several key categories.
of entry-level student instruments produced for

‘ The acquisition was also one that we could fairly
us in Asia. Sales of imported instruments now

easily integrate into our operations. Shorty after
make up 27% of our student band instrumient

the closing, we consolidated the sales force and
sales — that’s triple the 9% we had in 2003. The

many of the overlapping administrative positions
addition of these entry-level instruments also

into Conn-Selmer.
helped us increase our export business, and we

) ) - Now that sales and marketing are in shape to
expect continued success as these instruments
.  deliver strong results in 2005, our next challenge
further penetrate the marketplace. Overall, sales & &
¢ 3 band . i is to increase productivity and
rom our band segmen i
increased $14 million, or 9% The acquisition addm’ﬁzze new  cfficiency in our facrories.

. . . Shifts in market demand for
this past year. Leaving aside

brands to our portfolio and
L ‘ student instruments, our
our acquisition of Leblanc, our

enhanced our ma rket share acquisition of Leblanc, and our

in several key categories.
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We have assessed the issues and

are methodically working

outsourcing strategy have left toward improving productz'on We made significant progress
us with a number of factories ) . this year in every facet of
levels and right-sizing our
that are no longer producing our business and we believe

at full capacity. However, these operations.

our operations are poised
plants are producing the professional instruments  to do even better in 2005. We will continue
that drive our brand awareness and marketing  to make progress toward our goal of being the
strength. We must determine how to improve undisputed worldwide leader of the musical
efficiencies at all of our U.S. manufacturing facilities.  instrument industry. We are proud of our
We have assessed the issues and are methodically  instruments, brands and employees. You own

working toward improving production levels and  part of a great company and we appreciate your

right-sizing our operations. continued support.

A &U\——

Kyle R. Kirkland Dana D. Messina
Chairman of the Board Chief Executive Officer




United States Securities and Exchange Commission

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

[X] Annual Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the SCCUHUCS Exchange Act of 1934
for the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2004 i

[ 1 Transition Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Sécurities Exchange Act of 1934

Commission File Number 001-11911

STEINWAY MUSICAL IiNSTRUMENTS, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

| . Delaware ﬂ 35-1910745
(State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization) j (LR.S. Employer Identification No.)

800 South Street, Suite 305 ‘
Waltham, Massachusetts 02453
(Address of Prmc1pal Execurive Offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code

(781) 894-9770
Securities registered pursuantto Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered

Ordinary‘Common Shares, $.001 par value New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Séction 12(g) of the Act:  None

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required
to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements during the past 90 days. Yes [X] No [ ]

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Irem 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein,
and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge; in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated
by reference in Part III of the Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. [X]

Indicare by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated‘;ﬁler (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes [X] No[ ]

The aggregate market value of the Common Stock held by non- afﬁhates of the registrant was $207,362,428 as of March 15,
2005 and $244,732, 784 as of June 30, 2004. :

Number of;s‘har;es of Common Stock outstanding as of March 15, 2005: Class A 477,952
i Ordinary 7,555,695
Total 8,036,647

Documents Incorporated by Reference

Part III - Items 10-13 — Definitive Proxy Statement of the Registrant to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A,
Parts I-IV - Final Prospectus of the Registrant dated August 1,1996 filed pursuant to Rule 424(b).

2004 Annual Report




Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements contained throughout this Annual
Report on Form 10-K are “forward-looking statements”
within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. These forward-
looking statements represent our present expectations or
beliefs concerning future events. We caution you that such
statements are necessarily based on certain assumptions
that are subject to risks and uncertainties, which could
cause actual results to differ materially from those indicated
in this report. These risk factors include, but are not
limited to, the following: changes in general economic
conditions; increased competition; work stoppages and
slowdowns; exchange rate fluctuations; variations in the
mix of products sold; market acceptance of new band
instrument product and distribution strategies; ability of
suppliers to meet demand; and fluctuations in effective

tax rates resulting from shifts in sources of income. We
have included further information on these factors in our
Final Prospectus filed in August 1996 and in Registration
Statement No. 333-62790 filed in June 2001, particularly
in the sections entitled “Risk Factors.” We encourage you
to read those descriptions carefully. We caution investors
not to place undue reliance on the forward-looking
staternents contained in this report. These statements, like
all statements contained in this report, speak only as of the
date of this report {unless another date is indicated) and we
undertake no obligation to update or revise the statements

except as required by law.

Note Regarding Incorporation By Reference

The Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) allows
us to disclose certain information to you by referring

you to other documents we have filed with the SEC.

The information that we refer you to is “incorporated by
reference” into this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Please

read that information.

Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc.



PART |

ltem |.Business
Company History

Steinway Musical Insfrﬁfnents, Inc., through its wholly-
owned subsidiaries, is a global leader in the design,
manufacture, marketing and distribution of high

quality musical instruments. We are the largest domestic
manufacturer of musical instruments. Whenever we refer to
the “Company” or to “us,” or use the terms “we” or “our”
in this annual féport, we are referring to Steinway Musical

Instruments, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc., formerly Selmer
Industries, Inc., was incorporated in 1993, at which time

it purchased The Selmer Company, Inc. (“Selmer”),

the largest U.S. manufacturer of band & orchestral
instruments. In May of 1995, we purchased Steinway
Musical Properties, Inc. (“Steinway”), 2 manufacturer and
distriburor of acoustic pianos. In August of 1996, Steinway

Musical Instruments, Inc. became publicly held.

In September of 2000, we acquired United Musical
Instruments Holdings, Inc. (“UMI”), the second largest
manufacturer of band & orchestral instruments in the
U.S. and on January 1, 2003 Selmer and UMI merged
into Conn-Selmer, Inc. (“Conn-Selmer”). In August of
2004, we acquired the assets of G. Leblanc Corporation,
a manufacturer of high qualiry band instrumencs with

production facilities in Wisconsin and France.

We are a Delaware corporation with our principal executive
offices located at 800 South Street, Suite 305, Waltham,
Massachusetts 02453, and our telephone number is

(781) 894-9770. Through our corporate website,
www.steinwaymusical.com, we provide access free of
charge to all of our filings with the SEC, including our
Annual Reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form
10-Q, and current reports on Form 8-K. These reports

are available immediately following filing with the SEC.
Information contained on or connected to our website

is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report
on Form 10-K and should not be considered part of this
report or any other filing that we make with the SEC.
Additionally, the SEC maintains an Internet site at
www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information
statements and other information regarding issuers that file
electronicaliy with the SEC.

1%
b 5

* Financial Information by Segment and
- Geographic Location

Information on business segments and geographic areas in
. which we operated for the years ended December 31, 2004,
- 2003 and 2002 is contained in Note 18 to the Consolidated

* Financial Statements included in this report.

. Musical Instrument Industry

We operate two reportable segments within the musical

. instrument industry — pianos and band & orchestral instruments.

Pianos — The overall piano market is comprised of two
; main categories: grand pianos and upright pianos. Steinway

~ & Sons pianos compete in the high-end segment of the

market, whereas our Boston and Essex lines compete in the

' mid-priced segment of the piano market.

t During the latter half of the 1990s through 2000, the
© industry experienced growth in all categories of pianos as a

result of the strong U.S. economy, favorable demographics

and a general resurgence in music interests.

* Industry piano sales decreased in 2001 — 2003 as a result of

- the worldwide economic downturn. Since Steinway realizes

a majority of its profic from high-end grand piano sales,

* our results are generally more affected by economic cycles
" than by industry trends. However, favorable demographics,

¢ institutional sales, and the public’s continued interest in

music helped mitigate the impact of the economy on our

| piano business. As the U.S. economy rebounded in 2004,

¢ piano industry sales grew in all categories.

. Market size and volume trends are difficult to quantify
i for international piano markers, as there is no single

" source for worldwide sales data. Qutside North America,

our strongest markert shares are in Germany, the United

" Kingdom, France and Switzerland. 'We believe that we hold

an average grand piano market share of approximately 13%

. in these countries.

* Outside of the United States, China and Japan are the

i two largest grand piano markets in the world. With our

three piano lines, our market share of grand piano units is

- currently 4% in Japan and less than 1% in China. While

. adverse economic conditions in Japan have slowed our

i expansion in that market, the Chinese marker is growing

. at a rapid pace and we continue to target this region in our

. distribution strategies. In 2004, we opened a distribution

. and selection facility in Shanghai. We believe that our long-

! term prospects in Asia are favorable.

2004 Arnual Repot



Band & Orchestral Instruments — We believe that the
band & orchestral inscrument market in the U.S. has
historically been impacted more by demographic trends and
school budgeting than by macroeconomic cycles. While the
domestic market continued to grow through the late 1990s,
domestic supply outpaced demand. In recent years there
has been an increase in units imported into the domestic
market from offshore low-cost producers, as well as a decline
in exports by domestic manufacturers. These factors have
created a highly price sensitive domestic market, where
manufacturers implemented aggressive pricing programs in

an attempt to maintain market share positions.

However, we believe the outlook for future growth remains
positive. Relatively stable demographic trends and studies
emphasizing the importance of music education in a child’s
development are expected to facilitate industry growth. We
believe that parents are encouraging their children to play
musical instruments in response to the growing number of
reports that show participation in music programs increases
a student’s ability to excel in other aspects of his or her
education. In addition, many school band directors are
promoting band programs as social organizations rather
than the first step of intensive music study. We believe that
focusing on the educational component of the musical
instrument industry will help us expand our market share

in the relatively flat market expected in the near-term.

Business and Products

P1ano SEGMENT

Our piano division concentrates on the high-end grand
piano market, handcrafting Steinway pianos in New

York and Germany. The Steinway & Sons grand piano is
considered to be the highest quality piano in the world
and has one of the most widely recognized and prestigious
brand names. We also offer upright pianos as well as two
mid-priced lines of pianos under the Boston and Essex

brand names.

Steinway & Sons — We offer two premium-priced product
lines under the Steinway & Sons brand: grand pianos and
upright pianos. Steinway pianos differ from all others in
design specifications, materials used and the assembly
process. Grand pianos historically have accounted for the
bulk of our production. We offer eight sizes of the grand
piano ranging from the 5’17 baby grand to the largest

9 concert grand. The smaller grands are sold to both

individual and institutional customers, while the concert

Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc.

grands are sold primarily to institutions. Steinway grand
pianos are premium pianos in terms of quality and price,
with retail prices for ebony pianos generally ranging from
$38,900 to $99,900 in the United States. Limited edition
pianos and pianos with exotic veneers sell for retail prices
of up to $164,000. In 2004, we sold 3,194 grand pianos,
of which 2,237 units were shipped from our New York
facility to dealers in the Americas. The remaining 957
units were shipped from our German facility primarily to

Europe and Asia.

Our upright pianos offer dealers a complete line of
quality pianos to satisfy the needs of institutions and
other customers who are constrained by space limitations.
We also provide services, such as restoration, repair,
replacement part sales, tuning and regulation of pianos.
Restoration services range from minor damage repairs to

complete restorations of vintage pianos.

Boston Piano Company — The introduction of the Boston
line in the early 1990s permitted us to compete in the
mid-price category without sacrificing quality. Today we
offer two complete lines of grand and upright pianos for
the mid-priced piano market under the Boston and Essex
brand names. With certain limited exceptions, we allow
only Steinway dealers to carry the Boston and Essex piano
lines, thereby ensuring that these pianos will be marketed
as complementary product lines to the Steinway line.
These pianos, which were designed by us and are produced
by Asian manufacturers, provide our dealers with an
opportunity to realize better margins in this price range
while capturing sales that would have otherwise gone to

a competitor. Also, these pianos provide fuiture Steinway
grand piano customers with the opportunity to join the
Steinway family of owners sooner, since our research
indicates thar the vast majority of Steinway customers have
previously owned another piano. The Boston and Essex
product lines also increase our business with our dealers,
making us their primary supplier in many instances, since
our three product lines together offer the full spectrum

of piano prices and styles. Together the Boston and Essex
product lines offer twelve upright and grand piano sizes,
with retail prices ranging from $5,200 to $39,990 in the
United States.

BAND SEGMENT

We are the largest domestic producer of band & orchestral
instruments and offer a complete line of brass, woodwind,
percussion and string instruments with well-known brand

names. In 2004, sales of sourced products accounted for




35% of our band division revenue. Approximately 20% of
these sales were attributable to our new imported entry-

level student woodwind and brass instruments.

Woodwind and Brass Instruments — We manufacture
piccolos, flutes, clarinets, oboes, bassoons, saxophones,
trumpets, French horns, tubas, and trombones in our
manufacturing facilities in Indiana, Ohio, Wisconsin,
and France. We sell student level instruments in three
distince product groupings — “good” entry-level imported
instruments, “better” mid-priced instruments, which

are either imported or manufactured by us, and “best”
instruments, which are manufactured by us. We also
manufacture intermediate and professional level woodwind
and brass inscruments. Sales of woodwind and brass
instruments accounted for 68% of our band division

revenue in 2004,

We sell our woodwind and brass products under the
Bach, Selmer, C.G. Conn, Leblanc, King, Armsirong,
Holton, Martin, Vito, Emerson, Noblet, Artley and Benge
brand names. Suggestedvretail prices generally range
from $300 to $2,500 for student instruments and from
$1,000 to $10,000 for intermediate and professional
instruments. We often customize the products that we
sell to professional musicians so thar che product meets
requested design specifications or has certain sound
characteristics. We believe that specialization of products
helps maintain a competitive edge in quality and product
design. Our specialized woodwind and brass instruments
sell for up o $25,000.

We are the exclusive U.S. distributor for Yanagisawa
saxophones and Se/mer Paris musical instruments. The
Selmer Paris saxophone is the largest selling professional
saxophone in the world. Sefmer Paris, in turn, has exclusive
distribution rights to some of our woodwind and brass

products in France.

Percussion Instruments — We manufacture and distribute
acoustical and tuned percussion instruments, including
outfit drums, marching drums, concert drums, marimbas,
xylophones, vibraphones, orchestra bells, and chimes. We
manufacture pefcussion products in North Carolina and
Hlinois under the Ludwig and Musser brand names. Ludwig
is considered a leading brand name in acoustical drums and
timpani and Musser has a strong market position in tuned
percussion products. Suggested retail prices range from $500
o $5,000 for acoustical drum outfits and from $2,000 to
$15,000 for tuned percussion instruments, with specialized
tuned instruments purchased by symphonies and orchestras

selling for up to $20,000. Sales of percussion instruments

accounted for 15% of our band division revenue in 2004.

String Instruments — We assemble and distribute violins,

- violas, cellos, and basses. Products are sold under the Glaesel,

Scherl e Roth, and William Lewis & Son brand names.

| Suggested retail prices generally range from $200 to $4,000

for student instruments and from $1,700 to $7,000 for

. intermediate and advanced instruments, with specialized

instruments selling for up to $13,000. Components are

' primarily imported from Europe and Asia and assembled at

. our factory in Ohio. Sales of string instruments accounted

i for 4% of our band division revenue in 2004.

i Accessories — We manufacture mouthpieces and distribute

| accessories such as music stands, batons, mallets, straps,

mutes, reeds, pads, chin rests, strings, bows, cases and

. instrument care products. Sales of accessories accounted for

" 13% of our band division revenue in 2004.

Customers

" P1ANO SEGMENT

- We distribute our pianos worldwide through approximarely

180 independent piano dealers who operate nearly 300

» showrooms. We also sell our pianos through ten company-

" operated retail showrooms: five in the U.S. and five in

. Europe. Most Steinway grand piano sales are to individuals

i — both professional artists and amateur pianists. Our

 typical customer is berween 40 and 50 years old and has an

" intermediate to advanced level of musical skill. He or she

' holds a graduate degree and reports a household income

ranging from $150,000 to over $300,000 per year.

' We also sell pianos to institutions such as concert halls,

' conservatories, colleges, universities and music schools.

 Nearly 20% of our 2004 piano sales were to institutional

customers. To date, we have designated fifty schools and

* conservatories wotldwide as “All-Steinway Schools.” These

! institutions provide their students and faculties with the

+ best instruments possible for the study of music — from the

practice room to the recital hall - by owning only pianos

" designed by Steinway & Sons.

In 2004, approximately 57% of piano sales were in the

- United States, 28% in Europe and the remaining 15%

"primarily in Asia. Our largest piano dealer accounted for

+ approximately 4% of piano sales in 2004, while the top 15

'accounts represented 30% of piano sales.

2004 Annual Report




BAND SEGMENT

Band & orchestral instruments are sold to student,
amateur and professional musicians, and institutions. The
majority of our instruments are purchased or rented from
dealers by students enrolled in music education programs
in the U.S. Traditionally, students join school bands or
orchestras at age 10 or 11 and learn on beginner level
instruments, progressing to intermediate or professional
level instruments in high school or college. We estimate
that approximately 85% of our domestic band sales are
generated through educational programs. The remaining
domestic band sales are to professional or amateur
musicians or performing groups, including orchestras
and symphonies. Student level instruments accounted for
approximately 70% of band & orchestral unit sales and
approximately 40% of instrument revenues in 2004, wich
advanced and professional instruments representing the
balance. In 2004, approximately 81% of band sales were in
the United States, 9% in Europe and the remaining 10%
primarily in Canada and Asia. Our largest band dealer
accounted for approximately 8% of band sales in 2004,
while the top 15 accounts represented approximately 41%
of band sales.

Sales and Marketing

P1aANO SEGMENT

We distribute pianos primarily on a wholesale basis through
approximately 180 select dealers around the world. We

have subsidiaries and dealers in both Japan and China

that provide direct access to the expansive Asian piano
market. Sales to dealers accounted for approximately 73%
of piano segment revenue in 2004. The remaining 27% was
generated from sales made directly by us at one of our ten

company-operated retail showrooms.

We employ district sales managers whose responsibilities
include developing close working relationships with piano
dealers. These highly-experienced professionals provide
dealers with sales training and technical support and
develop sales and marketing programs for the consumer
and institutional markets. These sales managers are also
responsible for promoting the Concert and Artist and the

Steinway Artist programs described below.

Concert and Artist Piano Bank — To ensure that all
pianists, especially Steinway Artists, have a broad selection
of instruments to meet their individual rouch and

tonal preferences, we maintain the Concert and Artist

Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc.

Piano Bank. The Piano Bank includes approximarely

450 instruments worldwide. Of these instruments,
approximately 350 are located in the United States. In
New York City alone, the Steinway concert department
has approximately 160 concert grands available for various
occasions. The remaining domestic-based pianos are
leased to dealers around the country who actively support
the Steinway Artists program. The Piano Bank promotes
our instruments in the music industry and provides
management with continuous feedback on the quality and
performance of recently produced instruments from our
most critical customer, the professional pianist. The Piano
Bank instruments are generally sold after four years and

replaced with new pianos.

Steinway Artist Roster — Steinway Artists are world-

class pianists wha voluntarily endorse Steinway & Sons

by selecting the Steinway piano. Qur Steinway Artist
program is unique in that we do not pay artists to endorse
our instruments. To become a Steinway Artist, a pianist
must not only meet certain performance and professional
criteria, he or she must also own a Steinway piano. We

use these renowned artists in our marketing programs to
help reinforce recognition of the Steinway brand name

and its association with quality. The Steinway Artist Roster
currently includes approximately 1,300 of the world’s finest
pianists who perform on Steinway pianos. In return for their
endorsements, Steinway Artists are provided with access to
the Piano Bank described above.

BaND SEGMENT

Our band & orchestral, string and percussion instruments
and accessories are distributed worldwide through
approximately 1,800 independent musical instrument

dealers and distributors.

In North America, we market our products through district
sales managers, independent sales representatives, and
telemarketing representatives who are responsible for sales
within assigned geographic territories. Each districe sales
manager is also responsible for developing relationships
with band & orchestral directors. These directors represent
all levels of music educators, from those who teach
elementary school children through those involved at

the college and professional levels. These individuals are
the primary influencers in the choice of an instrument
brand. Band directors will generally refer students to
designated dealers for the purchase of instruments. As

part of our music director outreach and support strategy,

we have developed Conn-Selmer University to provide




new teachers with the tools and instruction to excel in

the music education environment. We believe that our
well-established, long-standing relationships with these
influential music educators are an important component of

our distribution scrategy.

We also sell our inscruments through dealers and
discributors located in Europe and Asia. We use
international representatives to help market our products
overseas. Dealers and distributors in the United States
and abroad are supported through incentive programs,

advertising and promotional activities.

We reach our customers through trade shows, educator
conferences, print media, direct mail, telemarketing, the
Internet and personal sales calls. We also actively advertise
in consumer, educator and trade publications and provide
educational materials, catalogs and product specifications
to students, educators, dealers and distributors. Our
educational director travels extensively, lecturing and
motivating students, educators and parents on the value of

music in a child’s development.

Competition

P1ano SEGMENT

Steinway & Sons — The level of competition our pianos face
depends on the market definition. Steinway & Sons pianos
hold a unique position at the top end of the grand piano
market, both in terms of quality and price. While there are
many makers of pianos, only a few compete directly with
our Steinway brand. Other manufacturers of higher priced

pianos include Bosendorfer and Fazioli.

Because Steinway pianos are built to last for generations,
used Steinways are the primary comperition in our market
segment. It is difficult to estimate the significance of

used piano sales, since most are conducted in the private
afrermarket. However, we have increased our emphasis on
restoration services and the procurement, refurbishment
and sale of used Steinway pianos to help us mitigate the
impact of these aftermarket sales on our piano business.

Boston Piano Company — While our mid-priced pianos
compete with brands such as Baldwin and Schimmel,
our primary competition is from Japanese and Korean
manufacturers such as Kawai, Yamaha and Young Chang.
By working with manufacturers in the same geographic
areas, we are able o enjoy labor costs and manufacturing

efficiencies similar to those of our primary competitors while

offering consumers the added benefit of pianos designed by
Steinway & Sons.

- Piano manufacturing in China has been growing at a rapid

© pace in recent years. While Chinese manufacturers have

begun producing low-priced, smaller grand pianos, a vast

; majority of the production continues to be upright pianos.

' BAND SEGMENT

. We are the largest domestic producer of band & orchestral
* instruments. We enjoy leading market shares with many

© of our professional level instruments. Yamaha, a Japanese

! corporation, is our largest competitor. New entrants

{ into the domestic market generally experience difficulty

© competing due to the need for both brand recognition and

i an effective distribution system.

i Competition for sales of student level instruments in the

- U.S. has intensified in recent years due to the growth of

- offshore manufacturers. These producers enjoy low labor

! costs, which make it possible for them to offer inscruments

at highly competitive prices. It is difficult to quantify the
impact of imported musical instruments since the majority

of offshore manufacturers do not report darta through

typical industry channels.

. Patents and Trademarks

Steinway & Sons pioneered the development of the modern

| piano with over 125 patents granted since our founding.

While we have several patents effective and pending in
the United States and in several foreign countries, we do

not believe our business is materially dependent upon any

* single patent.

" We also have some of the most well-known brand names

in the music industry. Qur piano trademarks include

© Steinway, Steinway ¢ Sons, the Lyre design, Boston, Boston

designed by Steinway & Sons, Heirloom Collection, and Essex.
Our band & orchestral trademarks include Bach, Selmer,
C.G. Conn, Leblanc, King, Armstrong, Ludwig, Musser,

| Holton, Glaesel, Scherl & Roth, Emerson, William Lewis
& Son, Noblet, and Artley. We consider our trademarks

. to be important and valuable assets. It is possible that the

| termination, expiration or infringement of one or more

. of our trademarks may have an adverse affect on our

business, depending on the trademark and the jurisdiction.

" Accordingly, we maintain trademark registrations

in appropriate jurisdictions on an ongoing basis and

4 vigorously pursue any infringement by competitors.
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Raw Materials, Component Parts,
and Sourced Products

Our raw materials consist primarily of metals and woods.
A majority of these materials is sourced from the Americas,
wich the balance coming from Europe, Asia and Africa.
We acquired our sole domestic piano plate manufacturer
and primary piano key maker to ensure availability of
these component parts. Component parts for string and
percussion instruments are imported from Europe and
Asia. We have had adequate supplies of raw materials

and component parts in the past and do not expect any
disruption to the supply of these items during 2005 or in

the future.

Our Boston and Essex piano lines are each sourced from
a single manufacturer, as are our Selmer Paris instruments
and certain other component parts. Although we may
experience delays in availability of product due to the

lead times required by these manufacturers, we do not

anticipate any material disruptions to the supply of these
products. Many of the student level band & orchestral
insttuments included in our “good” and “better” product
groupings are also sourced from single manufacturers. We
continually scrutinize these suppliers and the quality of
products that they manufacture for us and we believe that
we have a sufficient number of qualified suppliers to ensure

availability of all offered products in the upcoming year.

Labor

As of December 31, 2004, we employed 2,386 people,
consisting of 1,795 hourly production workers and 591
salaried employees. Of the 2,386 employees, 1,842 were
employed in the United States and the remaining 544

were employed primarily in Europe.

Approximately 60% of our workforce in the United
States is represented by labor unions. The following table
indicates the union representation and the current status of

our collective bargaining agreements in the U.S.:

Number of

Location Union Affiliation Type of Manufacturing Employees Agreement Expiration
Elkhorn, Wi International Boilermakers, Band instruments 71 July 19,2005
fron Shipbuilder, Blacksmiths,
Forgers & Helpers
Eikhart, IN United Auto Workers Band instruments 246 April 1,2006
New York, NY United Furniture YWorkers Pianos 490 December 31,2006
Springfield, OH Glass, Molders, Pottery, Piano plates 32 November 8, 2007
Plastics & Allied Workers
LaGrange, IL Carpenters Percussion instruments 38 November 16,2007
Eastlake, OH United Auto Workers Band instruments 215 February 16,2008

Steinway Musical instruments, Inc.

In Germany, cthe worker’s council represents all employees
other than management. Nevertheless, most employment
contract conditions are settled in collective bargaining
agreements made between various trade unions and the
employer organizations to which we belong. Generally,
agreements are negotiated on an annual basis. The
Company believes that relations with its employees and

these unions are generally good. :




ltem 2. Properties

We own most of our manufacturing and warehousing

facilities, as well as the building that includes Steinway Hall

in New York City. The remaining Steinway retail stores are

leased. Substantially all of the domestic real estate has been

pledged to secure our debt.

The following table lists our significant owned and

leased facilities:

Approximate Floor

Location Owned/Leased Space (Square Feet) Type of Facility and Activity Performed
Long Island City, NY Owned 450,000 Piano manufacturing; restoration center; administrative offices;
: training
New York, NY Owned 217,000 Piano retail store/showroom; office rental property
Westbury, NY Leased 15,000 Piano retail store/showroom
Westport, CT Leased 11,000 Piano retail store/showroom
Coral Gables, FL - Leased 6,0()0 Piano retail store/showroom
Paramus, N} Leased 4,060 Piano retail store/showroom
Springfield, OH Owned | I0,0GO Piano plate manufacturing
Hamburg, Germany Owned 221,000 Piano manufacturing; executive offices; training
Leased 6,0¢0 Piano retail store/showroom
Munich, Germany } Leased 15,000 Piano retail store/showroom
Berlin, Germany Leased 7,000 Piano retail store/showroom/service workshop
Wuppertal, Germany Leased 27,060 Piano key manufacturing
Witkow, Polaﬁd Owned IO,QOO Piano key manufacturing
Shanghai, China Leased IZ,QbO Piano warehouse/showrocom/warkshop
London, England Leased 10,000 Piano showroom
Leased 6,(560 Piano workshop/storage
Tokyo, Japan Leased 9,000 Piano selection center; warehouse
" Leased 2,0@0 Administrative offices
Eastlake, OH Owned |60,060 Brass instrument manufacturing
Eikhart, IN Owned 150,000 Brass instrument manufacturing
Owned 88,000 Woodwind manufacturing; warehouse; office
Owned 77,QOO Former band instrument manufacturing
Owned 81,000 Warehouse
Owned 25,660 Administrative offices
Elkhorn, Wi Owned 58,000 Brass instrument manufacturing
Kenosha, Wi " Owned 95,Qb0 Woodwind manufacturing; warehouse
Owned 43.050 Brass instrument manufacturing
Nogales,AZ Owned 22,000 Former woodwind instrument manufacturing, rental property
LaGrange, IL Owned 46,(?00 Percussion instrument manufacturing
Monroe, NC Leased IS4,000 Drum and case manufacturing
Cleveland, OH ~ Leased 62,000 String instrument manufacturing
London, England . N _Leased B,QOO Band instrument office; warehouse
LaCouture Boussey, France Owned 32,6:00 Woodwind manufacturing

0
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We spent $5.2 million for capital improvements in 2004,
consisting primarily of facility improvement projects related o
our facility rationalization project, machinery and equipment
purchases, and office equipment upgrades and replacements. We
expect capital spending in 2005 to be in the range of $5.0-7.0
million, relating to machinery and equipment purchases, system

upgrades, and facility improvements.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

General

We are involved in certain legal proceedings regarding
environmental matters, which are described below. Further,
in the ordinary course of business, we are party to various
legal actions that management believes are routine in
nature and incidental to the operation of the business.
While the outcome of such actions cannot be predicted
with certainty, we believe that, based on our experience

in dealing with these matters, their ultimate resolution

will not have a material adverse impact on our business,

financial condition or results of operations or prospects.

Environmental Matters

We are required to comply with various federal, state, local
and foreign environmental laws, including those relating to
discharges to air, water and land, the handling and disposal
of solid and hazardous waste and the cleanup of properties
affected by hazardous substances. Certain environmental
laws, such as the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation, and Liability Act, as amended, impose
strict, retroactive, joint and several liabilitcy upon persons
responsible for releases of hazardous substances, which

responsibility is broadly construed.

We operated manufacturing facilities at certain locations
where hazardous substances (including chlorinated solvents)
were used. We believe that an entity that formerly operated
one such facility may have released hazardous substances at
such location, which we leased through July 2001. We did
not contribute to the release. Further, we have a contractual
indemnity from certain stockholders of this entiry. This
facility is not the subject of a legal proceeding thar involves us,
not, to our knowledge, is the facility subject to investigation.
However, no assurance can be given that legal proceedings will
not arise in the future and that such indemnitors would make

the payments described in the indemnity.

Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc.

We operate other manufacturing facilities that were
previously owned by Philips Electronics North America
Corporation (“Philips”). Philips agreed to indemnify

us for any and all losses, damages, liabilities and claims
relating to environmental matters resulting from certain
activities of Philips occurring prior to December 29, 1988
{the “Environmental Indemnity Agreement”). Philips has
fully performed its obligations under the Environmental
Indemnity Agreement, which terminates on December
29, 2008. Four marters covered by the Environmental
Indemnity Agreement are currently pending. Philips has
entered into Consent Orders with the Environmental
Protection Agency (“EPA”) for one site and the North
Carolina Department of Environment, Health and
Natural Resources for a second site, whereby Philips has
agreed to pay required response costs. On October 22,
1998, we were joined as defendant in an action involving
a site formerly occupied by a business we acquired in
Illinois. Philips has accepted the defense of this action
pursuant to the terms of the Environmental Indemnity
Agreement. For the fourth site, the EPA has notified us

it intends to carry out the final remediation icself. The
EPA estimates chat this remedy has a present net cost of
approximately $14.5 million. The EPA has named over
40 persons or entities as potentially responsible parties at
this Elkhart, Indiana site, including four Conn-Selmer
predecessor entities. For two of these entities, which were
previously owned by Philips, this matter has been tendered
to Philips pursuant to the Environmental Indemnity
Agreement. Our potential liability at any of these sites is
affected by several factors including, but not limited to,
the method of remediation, our portion of the marterials
in the site relative to the other named parties, the number
of parties participating, and the financial capabilities of
the other potentially responsible parties once the relative
share has been determined. No assurance can be given,
however, that additional environmental issues will not
require other, currently unanticipated investigation,
assessment or remediation expenditures or that Philips
will make payments that it is obligated to make under the

Environmental Indemnity Agreement.

We are also continuing an existing environmental
remediation program at a facility acquired in 2000. We
currently estimate that this project will take eighteen
years to complete, at a total cost of approximately $1.0
million. We have accrued approximately $0.8 million for
the estimated remaining cost of this remediation program,

which represents the present value of the total estimated



cost using a discount rate of 4.54%. A sumnmary of

expected payments associated with this project is as follows:

Environmental Payments

2005 ‘ . $ 237
2006 : 75
2007 - - 54
008 47
2009 . 47
Thereafter : - Si4

$ 974

In 2004, we acquired manufacturing facilities for which
environmental remediation programs had already been
established. Based on our current assessment, we have
accrued approximately $0.8 million for the cost of these

remediation programs.

The matters described above and our other liabilities and
compliance costs arising urider environmental laws are
not expected to have a material impact on our capiral
expenditures, earnings, or competitive position. However,
some risk of environmental liability is inherent in the
nature of our current and former business and we mighrt,
in the fucure, incur material costs to meet current or
more stringent compliance, cleanup, or other obligations

pursuant to environmental laws.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to
aVote of Security Holders

No matter was submitted to a vote of our security
holders during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2004.
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PART I

Item 5. Markets For Registrant’s
Common Equity and Related
Stockholder Matters

Our Ordinary common stock is traded on the New York
Stock Exchange (*NYSE”) under the symbol “LVB”. The
following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the

high and low share prices of our Ordinary common stock
as reported on the NYSE.

Year Ended December 31,2004 High Low
First Quarter $ 33.90 $ 23.25
Second Quarter 36.50 32.10
Third Quarter 35.41 25.59
Fourth Quarter 29.36 26.76
Year Ended December 31,2003 High Low
First Quarter $ 16.60 $ 1425
Second Quarter 16.25 12.30
Third Quarter 18.20 15.27
Fourth Quarter 24.70 16.85

Number of securities to
be issued upon exercise
of outstanding options,

Pian Category warrants and rights

We have two classes of common stock: Class A and
Ordinary. With the exception of disparate voting power,
both classes are substantially identical. Each share of Class
A common stock entitles the holder to 98 votes. Holders
of Ordinary commeon stock are entitled to one vote per
share. Class A common stock shall automatically convert
to Ordinary common stock if, at any time, the Class

A common stock is not owned by an original Class A
holder. As of March 24, 2005, there were 2,925 beneficial
shareholders of our Ordinary common stock and two

holders of record of the Class A common stock.

We are restricted by the terms of our outstanding debt and
financing agreements from paying cash dividends on our

common stock.

We presently intend to retain earnings to reduce outstanding
indebtedness and to fund the growth of our business. The
payment of any future dividends will be determined by

the Board of Directors in light of conditions then existing,
including our results of operations, financial condition,

cash requirements, restrictions in financing agreements, tax

treatment of dividends, business conditions and other factors.

Equity Compensation Plans

The following table sets forth the equity compensation plan
information for our Employee Stock Purchase Plan and

our Amended and Restated 1996 Stock Plan, which were
approved by security holders:

Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under
equity compensation
plans (excluding securities
reflected in column(a))

Weighted-average exercise
price of outstanding options,
warrants and rights

() (b) (9
Equity compensation plans approved by 872,227 $19.92 477,018
security holders
Total 872,227 $19.92 477,018

Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc.




ftem 6. Selected ’Consolidated
Financial Data

The following table sets forth our selected consolidated
financial dara as of and for each of the five years in the
period ended December 31, 2004, derived from our
audited financial statements. The rable should be read in
conjunction with our consolidated financial statements,
including the footnotes, and “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condicion and Results of

Operations” included elsewhere in this report.

{In Thousands Except Share'and Per Share Data)

Years Ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000?

Income statement data:

Net sales $ 375,034 $ 337220 $ 332297 § 352,612 $ 331,698

Gross profit B ! 109,133 95,553 97,151 103,521 101,688
Income from operations | 34,241 2‘2.824 31,399 34,495 38,419
Net income . 15,867 9,698 14,909 8738 14,887

Earnings per share: .
Basic o $ 197 $ . 109 $ 168 $ 098 $ 167
Diluted $ 1.91 $ .09 $ .68 $ 0.98 $ 1.67
Weighted average shares: ‘1
Basic ‘ 8,046,256 8,9i4.578 8,877,256 8,928,000 8,921,091
Diluted B 8,304,066 8,9i5,672 8,882,165 8,928,000 8,921,108

Balance sheet data (at year end):

Cash E $ 27372 $ 42283 $ 19,099 $ 5545 $ 4989
Current assets 308,761 268,270 267,346 254,474 263,376
Total assets , 477,545 445,665 423,731 409,537 419.739
Current liabilities ' 72,893 61,304 53,302 49,318 56,515
Total debt o 221,208 196,602 200,636 211,203 223.410
Stockholders' equity : 145,553 It52,635 131,208 115,773 111,190

Other financial data:.

Capital expenditures 5,186 | 5,462 5,604 7,141 7,890
Margins: ’
Gross profit * 29.1% U 27.4% 29.2% 29.4% 30.7%

Operating ‘ 9.1% N 6.8% 9.4% 9.8% 11.6%

Notes to Selected Consolidated Financial Data:
' We acquired Leblanc in August 2004,
» We acquired UMI in September 2000,

A
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations (Tabular Amounts

in Thousands)

Introduction

The following discussion provides an assessment of the
results of our operations and liquidity and capital resources
together with a brief description of certain accounting
policies. Accordingly, the following discussion should

be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial
Statements and the Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements included within this report.

Overview

We, through our operating subsidiaries, are one of the world’s
leading manufacturers of musical instruments. Our strategy
is to capitalize on our strong brand names, leading market

positions, strong distribution networks, and quality products.

Piano Segment — Sales of our pianos are influenced by
general economic conditions, demographic trends and
general interest in music and the arts. The operating results
of our piano segment are primarily affected by Steinway

& Sons grand piano sales. Given the total number of these
pianos that we sell in any year (3,194 sold in 2004), a

slight change in units sold can have a marerial impact on
our business and operating results. Our results are also
influenced by sales of Boston and Essex pianos, which
together represented approximately 55% of total piano units
sold but less than 20% of total piano revenues in 2004. Our
Boston and Essex piano lines are manufactured in Asia, each
by a single manufacturer. The ability of these manufacturers
to produce and ship products to us could impact our
business and operating resules. In 2004, approximately 57%
of piano sales were in the United States, 28% in Europe and
the remaining 15% primarily in Asia. For the year ended
December 31, 2004, our piano segment sales were $203.7

million, representing 54% of our total revenues.

Piano Outlook for 2005 — We expect another successful
year for our piano segment with continued growth in
revenue. Gross margins should remain relatively stable
as we expect somewhat higher production levels to offset
manufacturing cost increases. We expect the higher costs

of Boston inventory purchases caused by unfavorable

Cramimasay Miciral lncte immante |me

exchange rates to be mitigated by price increases we have
already implemented. We currently have sufficient, but not
excessive, manufacturing capacity to meet anticipated or

increased demand.

Band Segment — Our student band instrument sales are
influenced by trends in school enrollment, general attitudes
toward music and the arts and our ability to provide
competitively priced products to our dealer network.
Management estimates that 85% of our domestic band
sales are generated through educational programs. Our
school instrument business is correlated to the number

of school children in the United States, which has peaked
and is expected to remain relatively stable over the next

few years. However, our sales growth has been adversely
affected in recent years by the abundance of competitively
priced imported student instruments available to our dealers
and their ability to purchase these products directly from

offshore sources.

In order to compete with these mass-merchandised offshore
instruments, we restructured our product offerings ro
include quality, competitively priced brand-name imported
instruments that are built to our specifications. We now
offer quality-controlled, brand-name products at multiple
price points through distribution channels which support
the music education market. Our product offerings are
tailored to the needs of traditional school music dealers
who provide full-service rental programs to beginning
band students, as well as music retailers and e-commerce
dealers selling directly to end consumers from their stores

or through the Internet.

Consistent with past patterns, beginner instruments
accounted for approximately 70% of band & orchestral
unit shipments and approximarely 40% of band
instrument revenues in 2004, with advanced and
professional instruments representing the balance. In 2004,
approximately 81% of band sales were in the United States,

9% in Europe and the remaining 10% primarily in Asia.

For the year ended December 31, 2004, our band sales were

$171.3 million, representing 46% of our total revenues.

Band Outlook for 2005 — We continue to sce shifts in

the buying patterns of our dealers within and between our

various distribution channels. Accordingly, pinpointing the
demand for our products at the student, institutional, and

professional levels, synchronizing product availabilicy with

demand, and filling the needs of our distribution channels

in both domestic and export markets has become far more

challenging than in the past. This process will continue to be



a major focus for us going forward. We expect a demanding
first half of the year as we complete the integration of the
Leblanc operafibhs and product offerings into our business
and strive to improve productivity at locations affected by
our facility rationalization activities. The latter half of the
year should show improvement over past performance, both
in net sales and gross margin. We anticipate a gradual return
to more efficient production levels and a more appropriate
balance of manufactured and imported products to meet
demand for the back-to-school selling season.

Inflation and Foreign Currency Impact — Although we
cannot accurately predict the precise effect of inflation on our
operations, we do not believe that inflation has had a material

effect on sales or results of operations in recent years.

Sales to customers outside the United States represented
32% of consolidated sales in 2004. We record sales in
euro, Japanese yen, British pounds, and Chinese renminbi.
In 2004, we generated 73% of our international sales
through our piano segment and, solely as a result of foreign
exchange rate changes, piano sales increased $6.8 million.
Although curtency fluctuation affects international sales,
it also affects cost of sales and related operating expenses.
Consequently, it generally has not had a material impact
on operating income. We use financial instruments such
as forward exchange contracts and currency options to
reduce the impact of exchange rate fluctuations on firm
and anticipated cash flow exposures and certain assets

and liabilities denominated in currencies other than

the functional currency of the affected division. We do
not purchase cutrency related financial instruments for

purposes other than exchange rate risk management.

Taxes — We are subject to U.S. income taxes as well as tax in
several foreign jurisdictions in which we do business. Some
of these foreign jurisdictions have higher statutory rates than
the U.S. In addition, certain of our operations are subject
to both U.S. and foreign raxes. However, in such cases we
receive a credit against our U.S. taxes for foreign taxes paid
equal to the percentage that such foreign income represents
of the total income subject to U.S. tax. Accordingly, our
effective tax rates will vary depending on the relative
proportion of foreign to U.S. income and the absorption of
foreign tax credits in the U.S. In 2002, we were not able to
utilize foreign tax credits carried forward from prior years,
but were effective at using many of the foreign tax credits
generated that period. In 2003, we were able to utilize
foreign tax credits carried forward from prior years due

to the higher proportion of our foreign source income to

" overall income. In 2004, we were able to use the majority,

: but not all, of the foreign tax credits generated in the current

: period. However, because the American Jobs Creation Act

~ 0f 2004 (the “Act”) extended the foreign tax credit carryover

~ period we were able to recognize a partial benefit for the

+ current year’s excess foreign tax credits.

. The strengthening of our domestic piano and band

. businesses is expected to result in less effective use of

" our foreign tax credits and credit carryforwards in the

upcoming year. In addition, the states in which we

* do business have either repealed or are likely to repeal

 legislation that had been beneficial to tax paying businesses.

These events may have an adverse impact on our effective
tax rate for 2003. Conversely, we expect to benefit from
other provisions of the Act, such as the additional rax

deduction provided to domestic manufacturers. To date,

+ we have not fully assessed the impact of all these rax law

' changes but currently expect our effective tax rate to

increase in 2005 relative to 2004.
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Results of Operations

Fiscal Year 2004 Compared to Fiscal Year 2003

Change

For years ended December 31, 2004 2003 $ %
Net sales

Band $ 171,346 $ 157,460 13,886 8.8

Piano 203,688 179,760 23,928 133
Total sales 375,034 337,220 37814 1.2
Cost of sales

Band 137,779 126,369 11,410 9.0

Piano 128,122 118,298 9,824 8.3
Total cost of sales 265,901 244,667 21,234 87
Gross profit

Band 33567 19.6% 31,091 19.7% 2,476 8.0

Piano 75,566 37.1% 61,462 342% 14,104 229
Total gross profit 109,133 92,553 16,580 17.9

29.1% 27.4%

Operating expenses 75,255 66,771 8,484 12.7
Facility rationalization (363) 2,958 (3.321) (112.3)
Total operating expenses 74,892 69,729 5,163 74
Income from operations 34,241 22,824 11,417 50.0
Other income, net (3,163) (3.517) 354 (ro.n
Net interest expense 13,437 11,945 1,492 12.5
income before income taxes 23,967 14,396 9,571 66.5
Income tax provision 8,100 338% 4,698 32.6% 3,402 724
Net income $ 15867 $ 9698 6,169 63.6

Overview — 2004 was a year committed to improvement of
our band business. We continued the facility rationalization
project started in 2003, closing one of our Elkhart, Indiana
plants in April 2004 and moving production into existing
facilities. Our redesigned distribution policy enabled us to
grow our e-commerce, catalog, music retailer, professional,
and export sales categories. Our expanded product

line, which includes lower-priced, brand-name sourced
instruments, has been well accepted in the markertplace,
and we experienced increases in sales of these products

once we worked through availability issues. However,

we maintained lower-than-normal production levels for
certain products in order to manage inventory levels, which
adversely impacted margins. We were presented with the
opportunity to purchase substantially all of the assets of

G. Leblanc Corporation, which enabled us to strengthen
our existing band product lines. Leblanc faces the same
excess capacity issues we have experienced, announcing the
closure of one of its manufacturing facilicies just prior to the

acquisition. Accordingly, we expect our overall production
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rationalization acrivities to extend beyond the timeframe
originally anticipated as we factor Leblanc’s production

capabilities into our analysis.

Our piano business had a very successful year. Domestic
wholesale sales remained strong, and retail sales were
bolstered by the two additional retail stores that were

fully operational for all of 2004. Our European business
remained stable, while our Asian business improved,
primarily due to our Shanghai facility being operational
since spring 2004. Although sales and marketing expenses
were higher than expected, these costs were more than
offset by margin improvements due to improved production

levels, efficiencies, and product mix.

Net Sales — Net sales increased $37.8 million. This
resulted in part from a 9% increase in Steinway grand unit
shipments, as well as a $6.8 million benefit attributable to
foreign exchange. The tortal piano sales increase of $23.9
million also reflects the increase in higher-priced retail unit

sales resulting from our additional domestic storefronts




being operational for the full year, as well as strong
wholesale shipments throughout the year. Band & orchestral
instrument sales increased $13.9 million on an overall unit
increase of 17%. The band sales increase includes $9.6
million attributable to the Leblanc acquisition, with the
remainder resulting from core business growth, especially

professional brass and percussion instruments.

Gross Profit — Gross profit improved $16.6 million
primarily due to the pianb margin improvement from
34.2% to 37.1%. Higher domestic production levels,
overseas production and l_abor efficiencies, and improved
retail sales were the primary drivers of the increase. A shift in
our international divisions’ sales mix towards higher margin
grands also contributed to the improvement. Although band
segment gross profit improved $2.5 million, gross margins
declined slightly. Atypical charges affecting margin in 2004
totaled $2.6 million, comprised primarily of severance and
higher costs associated with the acquisition write-up of
Leblanc inventory to fair value. In 2003, atypical charges
totaled $6.0 million, including severance costs, strike costs,
and inventory impairment charges. Despite the reduction in
atypical charges and improved margins on imported student
products, gross margins decreased slightly from 19.7% to
19.6%. This was primarily due to increased freight expenses,
production inefhiciencies for some woodwind products,

and reduced production levels of certain brass instruments.
Significant increases in costs of raw materials such as silver

and copper also adversely affected band gross margins.

Operating Expenses — Operating expenses increased $5.2
million despite the $3.3 million decrease in impairment
charges compared to the prior year. Over $3.1 million of
this increase resulted from external costs associated with
our Sarbanes-Oxley compliance project. $2.2 million of the
increase is attributable to foreign exchange, and we incurred
incremental expenses of $1.4 million associated with
Leblanc. The remainder of the increase resulted primarily
from increased advertising and promotional costs and

increased bonus payments. -

Non-operating Expenées — Non-operating expenses
increased $1.8 million primarily due to the additional
interest expense resulting from our issuance of $29.0 million
of 8.75% Senior Notes in February 2004.

'
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Results of Operations

Fiscal Year 2003 Compared to Fiscal Year 2002

Change

For years ended December 31, 2003 2002 3 %
Net sales

Band $157,460 $167,708 (10,248) (6.1)

Piano 179,760 164,589 15,171 9.2
Total sales 337,220 332,297 4,923 1.5
Cost of sales

Band 126,369 127,849 (1,480) (1.2)

Piano 118,298 107,297 11,001 10.3
Total cost of sales 244,667 235,146 9,521 4.0
Gross profit

Band 31,091 19.7% 39,859 23.8% (8,768) (22.0)

Piano 61,462 34.2% 57292 34.8% 4,170 7.3
Total gross profit 92,553 97,151 (4.598) 4.7)

27.4% 29.2%

Operating expenses 66,771 65,752 1,019 1.5
Facility rationalization 2,958 - 2,958
Total operating expenses 69,729 65,752 3,977 6.0
Income from operations 22,824 31,399 (8,575) (27.3)
Other income, net 3.517) (3,939) 422 (10.7)
Net interest expense 11,945 13,279 (1,334) (10.0)
Income before income taxes 14,396 22,059 (7,663) (34.7)
Income tax provision 4,698 32.6% 7,150 32.4% (2,452) (34.3)
Net income $9,698 $14,909 (5.2t1) (35.0)

Overview — 2003 was a year of transition in our band
business. Our results were negatively impacted early

on by strikes at two of our plants. We began a facility
rationalization project to reduce manufacturing space by
20% and position the business to improve future margins
on manufactured products. We reduced production in order
to bring down excess manufactured inventory levels. Lastly,
in October, we expanded our product line and introduced
many new, quality-controlled sourced products that have
been made to our specifications. We also revamped our
distribution policy to include channels not previously
utilized and now offer step-up and professional instruments
through catalogs and via the Internet. Additionally, we

now offer school music dealers a full line of instruments,
including lower-priced, brand-name instruments which are

a favorable alternative to mass-produced, offshore products.

Our piano business started out slow but recovered in
the last two quarters of 2003. While Steinway & Sons’

150th anniversary celebration caused sales and marketing
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expenses 1o increase, we believe that the additional
publicity generated by this milestone event helped generate
sales interest in the second half of che year. However, due
to the long production cycles for Steinway pianos and the
lead-time required for ordering sourced pianos, we were

unable to match the increase in demand by year-end.

Net Sales — The increase in net sales of $4.9 million resulted
from a $15.2 million improvement in piano sales, which
occurred despite relatively flat Steinway grand units shipments.
The piano sales increase reflects $10.2 million in benefit
attributable to foreign exchange, as well as annual price
increases and a shift in mix towards higher-priced retail units.
Band & orchestral instrument sales decreased $10.2 million
on an overall unit decrease of 12%, reflecting the decreased
demand for higher cost beginner instruments. The delay in
availability of product resulting from the union strikes at our
LaGrange, Illinois and Eastlake, Ohio plants (settled in March
and May, respectively) also contributed to the sales shortfall.

These factors were mitigated in part by a shift in sales mix




towards higher-priced step-iip and professional insttuments and

an 11% increase in percussion unit shipments.

Gross Profit — Gross profit decreased $4.6 million in 2003 as
both the piano and band segments experienced deteriorating
gross margins. Piano margins decreased slightly to 34.2%
despite the shift towards retail unics, primarily due to the
$1.4 million resulting from unfavorable foreign exchange
rates on Boston invenrory purchases. Gross margins for the
band & orchestral segment declined to 19.7%, corresponding
to a gross profit decrease of $8.8 million. This decrease
includes $1.9 million paid to employees in accordance with
the terms of expired labor contraces, and $1.3 million in
underabsorbed overhead and lost profit resulting from the
work stoppages at two of our plants, In addition, we incurred
$1.2 million in inventory impairment charges and $1.7
million in severance costs associated with the closure of our
Nogales, Arizona woodwind manufacturing facility and the
imminent (April 2004) closure of one of our Elkhart, Indiana
woodwind manufacturing facilities. Production levels, which
were reduced at one of our brass instrument plants in order
to manage excess inventory levels, and increased pension
expenses of $1.1 million, also adversely impacted band

segment margins in 2003.

Operating Expenses — Operating expenses increased

$4.0 million, primarily as a result of the $3.0 million of
impairment charges taken on land, building, and equipment
relating to our Nogales, Arizona and Elkhart, Indiana
woodwind manufacturing facilities. Foreign currency
translation negatively impacted operating expenses by $2.1
million and additional sales and marketing expenses of over
$1.0 million incurred in conjunction with Steinway & Sons’
150th anniversary celebration were also a factor. Offsetting
these costs was $2.6 million in savings realized by the band
segment through administrative staff reductions and lower

sales and marketing expenses.

Non-operating Expenses — Non-operating expenses decreased
$0.9 million to $8.4 million in 2003 primarily due to lower
net interest resulting from the use of cash from operations, as
opposed to line of credit borrowings, in the current period.

In addition, our debt buyback of $4.7 million in December
2002 lowered interest expense By $0.4 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have relied primarily upon cash provided by operations,
supplemented as necessary by seasonal borrowings under

our working capital line, to finance our operations, repa
p 4

i long-term indebtedness, finance acquisitions, and fund our

- capital expenditures.

. Cash Flows — Our statements of cash flows are summarized

-~ as follows:

For the years ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

Net income: $15,867 $ 94698 $14909

Changes in

operating assets and liabilities (1,305) 8,350 3,813

Other adjustments to
reconcile net income to
cash from operating activities 9,311 12,845 10,177

Cash flows from operating activities 23,873 30,893 28,899
(40,720)  (5452)  (5,600)
Cash flows from financing activities 1,019 (2767)  (9,718)

Cash flows from investing activities

~ In 2004, cash flows from operating activities decreased

© $7.0 million. This increased use of cash was caused

" primarily by a) a $5.4 million rise in piano inventory levels
| to support our expansion in Asia; b) $3.1 million in higher
'+ receivables primarily associated with band sales increases,

- and ¢) $3.4 million transferred to workers’ compensation

. and environmental depositary trust funds which replaced
" more expensive letters of credit previously used. In

, 2003, cash flows from operating activities increased $2.0

. million despite the $5.2 million decrease in net income
 primarily as a result of our control over inventory, reduced
+ manufacturing levels, and management of our accounts

" receivable and payable. In 2002, inventory and accounts
receivable management contributed $8.0 million to cash

© flows from operations.

. Cash used for investing activities of $40.7 million is

; primarily due to our acquisition of certain assets of G.

t Leblanc Corporation for $36.8 miltlion in August 2004.
. The final purchase price for the business acquisition

 is subject to adjustment and has not been finalized.

+ Accordingly, additional cash expenditures may be

© necessary. Year over year, capital expenditures were

! relatively comparable at $5.2 million in 2004, $5.5

million in 2003 and $5.6 million in 2002. (See Capital

. Expenditures discussion below.)

; In 2004, cash provided by financing activities of $1.0
. million resulted from stock option exercises and stock
purchase plan activities totaling $5.7 million, which
" more than offset the $4.6 million in net borrowings and
i scheduled debt amortization on our lines of credit. In
: 2003, financing activities consisted primarily of scheduled
. debt amortization of $6.5 million, counterbalanced in
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part by net borrowings of $2.3 million on our foreign
lines of credit. These borrowings were made primarily

to support an increase in working capital. In 2002, cash
used for financing activities resulted from the scheduled
amortization of our term loans of $6.4 million, as well as
the repurchase of $4.7 million of our Senior Notes. (See

Borrowing Activities and Availability discussion below.)

Capital Expenditures — Our capital expenditures consist
primarily of machinery and equipment purchases, system
upgrades, and facility improvements. In 2003, we expect
our capital spending to be in the range of $5.0-$7.0 million
relating to factory improvements, equipment, process, and

tooling upgrades, and machinery and equipment purchases.

Seasonality — Consistent with industry practice, we sell

band instruments almost entirely on credit utilizing the two
financing programs described below. Due to these programs,
we have large working capital requirements during certain
times of the year when band instrument receivable balances
reach highs of approximately $90-95 million in August and
September, and lesser requirements when they are at lows of
approximarely $70-75 million in January and February. The
financing options, intended to assist dealers with the seasonality
inherent in the industry and facilitate the rent-to-own programs
offered to students by many retailers, also allow us to match
our production and delivery schedules. The following forms of
financing are offered to qualified band instrument dealers:

a) Receivable dating: Payments on purchases made from
January through August are due in October. Payments on
purchases made from September to December are due in

January. Dealers are offered discounts for early payment.

b) Note receivable financing: Qualified dealers may convert
open accounts to a note payable to us. The note program
is offered in January and October and coincides with the
receivable dating program. In most instances, the note

receivable is secured by dealer inventories and receivables.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements — In 2002, our customers
financed notes receivable with a third party, to which we
had a recourse obligation under the financing agreement.
We received proceeds of $2.6 million from the financing

of such notes. In 2003, no customer receivables were
subject to such financing or recourse obligations. In 2004,
certain customers of our Leblanc subsidiary financed notes
receivable with a third party, to which we have a recourse
obligation. We received proceeds of $1.4 million from the
customer financing of such notes. As of December 31,

2004, the outstanding balance on these customer notes was
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$3.0 million. We have included a corresponding recourse
obligation of 1.2 million in other current liabilities as of
December 31, 2004. We expect the duration of our recourse
obligation not to exceed one year. Our total maximum
recourse obligation under this arrangement includes the
outstanding balance on the notes, as well as any interest

or late fees that may be incurred by our customers. We
received an indemnification from G. Leblanc Corporation
in connection with our acquisition of certain of its assets
and assumption of certain liabilities. (See Note 3.} As of
December 31, 2004, we have recognized a receivable of $0.6

million associated with this indemnification.

Unlike many of our competitors in the piano industry,
with limited exceptions, we do not provide extended
financing arrangements to our dealers. To facilitate long-
term financing required by some dealers, we have arranged
financing through third-party providers. We generally

p[’OVidC no guaramees with respect to these arrangements.

Retail Financing Obligations — Certain of our foreign retail
sales were financed by our customers through a local bank
under an arrangement that included an obligation on our
part to repurchase pianos seized by the bank upon default
of the customer. The buy back price is established as a
percentage of the original sales price, starting at 80% in the
first year and declining to 30% in the fifth year of the loan.

This program ceased in the first quarter of 2003. Nevertheless,
because our obligation continues until the bank is paid in full
by the customer, our commitment can remain outstanding for

up to 8 years — the maximum term of the consumer loan.

Our maximum obligation under this arrangement is
estimated to be approximately €1.4 million ($1.8 million

at the December 31, 2004 exchange rate). To date, we

have not been required to repurchase any pianos under

this program and we believe the likelihood of such
repurchases in the future is remote. Accordingly, we have
not recognized a liability for this obligation in our financial
statements. Further, in the unlikely event of a repurchase,
we believe the proceeds received upon our resale of the

piano would exceed the amount payable to the bank.

Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits — When
determining the amounts to be recognized in the consolidated
financial statements related to our domestic pension and other
postretirement benefits, we used a long-term rate of return

on plan assets of 9%, which was developed with input from
our actuaries and our investment committee, and is consistent

with prior years. We believe that 9% is consistent with the




historical long-term return trends on our domestic pension
assets and our expectations for future returns. The discount
rate utilized for determining future pension obligations for
our domestic plans is based on long-term bonds receiving
an AA- or better rating by a recognized rating agency. The
resulting discount rate decreased from 6.50% at December
31, 2003 to 6.0% at December 31, 2004.

The discount rates and rates of returns on plan assets for
our foreign pension and other postretirement benefit plans
were similarly developed utilizing long-term rates of return
and discount rates reasonably expected to occur in the

applicable jurisdiction.

Borrowing Activities and Availability — Our real estate cerm
loan, acquisitioh term loan, and domestic, seasonal borrowing
requirements are accommodated through a committed credit
facility with a syndicate of domestic lenders (the “Credit
Facility”). The Credit Facility provides us with a potential
borrowing capacity of $85.0 million in revolving credic

loans, and expires-on September 14, 2008. Borrowings are
collateralized by our domestic accounts receivable, inventory,
and fixed assets. As of December 31, 2004, there were no
revolving credit loans outstanding and availability based

on eligible accounts receivable and inventory balances was
approximately $82.6 million, net of letters of credit. The real
estate term loan is payable in monthly installments of $0.2
million and includes interest at average 30-day LIBOR (2.40%
at December 31, 2004) plus 1.5%. This term loan is secured
by all of our interests in the Steinway Hall property. The
acquisition term loan is repayable in monthly installments of
$0.4 million through August 2005 and monthly installments
of $0.6 million from September 2005 through September
2008. The acquisition térm loan and revolving credit loans
bear interest at average 30-day LIBOR plus 1.75%. All of our
borrowings under the Credit Facility are secured by a first lien
on our domestic inventory, receivables, and fixed assets. Open
account loans with foreign banks also provide for borrowings of
up to €17.0 million ($23.1 million at December 31, 2004) by

Steinway’s foreign subsidiaries.

On April 19, 2001, we issued $150.0 million 8.75% Senior
Notes due 2011. In December 2002 we repurchased $4.7
million of our Senior Notes at 99.25%. In February 2004 we
purchased 1,271,450 shares of our Ordinary common stock
directly from our then largest institutional shareholder. In
exchange, we issued $29.0 million in principal amount of our
8.75% Senior Notes due 2011 under the existing indenture.
Wee issued these bonds at a premium of 106.3%. This

transaction increased our treasury stock by $31.6 million.

At December 31, 2004, our total outstanding indebtedness

" amounted to $221.2 million, consisting of $174.3 million

* of 8.75% Senior Notes, $16.7 million on the real estate

+ term loan, $22.9 million on the acquisition term loan,

' and $7.2 million of notes payable to foreign banks.

Cash interest paid was $17.5 million in 2004, $14.6

million in 2003, and $15.3 million in 2002. All of our

' debt agreements contain covenants that place certain

© restrictions on us, including our ability to incur additional

¢ indebtedness, to make investments in other entities and to

+ pay cash dividends. We were in compliance with all such

. covenants as of December 31, 2004 and do nort anticipate

any compliance issues in 2003.

Our bond indenture contains limitations, based on net

| income (among other things), on the amount of discretionary

. repurchases we may make of our Ordinary common stock.

% Our intent and ability to repurchase additional Ordinary

~ common stock either directly from shareholders or on the

open market is directly affected by this limitation.

: On August 12, 2004 we purchased substantially all of the

+ net assets of G. Leblanc Corporation, a manufacturer of

* high-quality band instcruments, for $36.8 million. The

. purchase price is subject to final purchase price adjustments.

We funded this acquisition with approximately $22.0

. million in cash, supplemented by borrowings on our credit

facility, which were paid off by December 31, 2004.

* We have reserved 721,750 shares of our existing treasury stock

to be utilized for the exercise of outstanding stock options

" under our Amended and Restated 1996 Stock Plan. These

. options have no impact on our cash flow or the number of

< shares outstanding unless and until the options are exercised.

- We expetience long production and inventory turnover

- cycles, which we constantly monitor since fluctuations

" in demand can have a significant impact on these cycles.

. With the exception of the Leblanc acquisition, our Credit

; Facility went virtually unused throughout the year. Despite

our facility rationalization project and additional interest

+ obligations, we were able to effectively utilize cash flow

« from operations to fund our debt and capital requirements

' in 2004. Looking forward to 2005, we anticipate that both

the piano and band divisions will perform consistently

in the first half of the year, and band results are expected

to improve once we have sold through the higher-cost

" inventory resulting from the Leblanc acquisition. Our

intention is to keep our balance sheet strong by managing

; accounts receivable, maintaining sufficient, but not

| excessive, inventory levels, and repaying debt. We do
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not have any current plans or intentions that will have a
material impact on our liquidity in 2005, although we
may consider acquisitions that may require funding from

operations or from our credir facilities.

Other than those described, we are not aware of any
trends, demands, commitments, or costs of resources that
are expected to materially impact our liquidity or capital
resources. Accordingly, we believe that cash on hand,
together with cash flows anticipated from operations and
available borrowings under the Credit Facilicy, will be
adequate to meet our debt service requirements, fund
continuing capital requirements and satisfy our working

capital and general corporate needs through 2005.

Contractual Obligations — The following table provides a

summary of our contractual obligations at December 31, 2004.

introductions, and contemporaneous information, such

as price fluctuations. We regularly perform assessments of
the underlying assumptions we use. The impairment (if
any) and recoverability of long-lived assets, the selection of
assumptions used to determine pension expense or income,
the allocation of purchase price for businesses acquired, and
certain components of our tax provision calculation, such
as valuation allowances on deferred tax assets, the ability
to utilize foreign tax credits, and income tax contingencies
are based on estimates that require a greater degree of
management judgment. We believe the assumptions made
by management provide a reasonable basis for the estimates

reflected in our financial statements.

Payments due by period

Contractual Obligations Total Less than | year 1-3 years 3-5 years More than 5 years
Long-term debt ' $ 321,057 $ 29,875 $ 47,660 $ 47,641 $ 195,88l
Operating leases ? 273,276 5,085 8319 7,509 252,363
Purchase obligations ? 10,504 9,951 553 - -
Other long-term liabilities * 25,647 3,469 4,479 3217 14,482

$ 630,484 $ 48,380 $ 61,01t $ 58367 $ 462,726

Notes to Contractual Obligations:

' Long-term debt represents long-term debt obligations and the fixed interest on our Notes. The nature of our long-term debt obligations is described

more fully in the “Borrowing Availability and Activities” section of "Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

* Approximately $257.5 million of our operating lease obligations are attributable to the ninety-nine year land lease associated with the purchase of Steinway

Hall, which is described in Note 14 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included within this filing; the remainder is attributable to the leasing of

other facilities and equipment

* Purchase obligations consist of firm purchase commitmenits for raw materials and equipment.

* Our other long-term liabilities consist primarily of the long-term portion of our pension obligations, which are described in Note 15 in the Notes to

Consolidated Financia Statements included within this filing, and obligations under employee and consultant agreements, which are described in Note

14 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included within this filing.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The application of many accounting policies involves
estimates and assumptions that have a material impact on
our reported results. We establish reserves for inventory,
workers compensation, warranty claims, accounts
receivable, notes receivable, (including recourse reserves
when our customers have financed notes receivable with

a third party), all of which are developed using certain
estimates. We have significant experience and data on
which to base these estimates. Historical informarion is

adjusted for specific uncertainties, such as new product
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB”) revised Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123, “Share-Based Payments”
(SFAS No. 123R). This accounting standard, which is
effective for interim and annual periods beginning after June
15, 2005, requires the recognition of compensation expense
related to stock options using the fair-value method. We plan
to adopt SFAS No. 123R in the third quarter of 2005 using
the Statement’s modified prospective application method.

Based on current outstanding awards, expected participation




in the Employee Stock Purchase Plan consistent with past
patterns, and no significant changes in the number of shares
of outstanding stock, we anticipate an impact on earnings of

approximately $.06 per share in 2005.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151,
“Inventory Costs, an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chaprer
4” (SFAS No. 151). This accounting standard, which is
effective for annual periods beginning after June 15, 2005,
requires that abnormal amounts of idle facility expense,
freight, handling costs, and wasted materials (spoilage)
should be recognized 4s current-period chatges. The
adoption of SFAS No. 151 is not expected to have a material

effect on our financial pésition or results of operations.

In December 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation
(“FIN”) 46R “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities
—an interpretation of ARB No. 51”7 (“FIN 46R”). This
interpretation, which is effective for public entities by the end
of the first reporting period ending after December 15, 2003,
addresses consolidation by business enterprises of variable
interest entities that have certain characteristics. The adoption

of FIN 46R had no impact on our financial statements.

Item 7A. Quanfitative and Qualitative
Disclosures About Market Risk

Foreign Currency Risk

We are subject to market risk associated with changes

in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates.

We mitigate our cash flow exposure to foreign currency
fluctuations by holding forward foreign currency contracts.
They are not designated as hedges for accounting purposes.
These contracts relate primarily to intercompany transactions
and are not used for trading or speculative purposes. The fair
value of the forward foreign currency exchange contracts is
sensitive to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. As

of December 31, 2004, a 10% negative change in foreign
cutrency ekchange rates from market rates would decrease
the fair value of the contracts by approximately $0.4 million.
Gains and losses on the foreign currency exchange contracts
are defined as the difference between the contract rate at

its inception date and the current forward rate. However,

we would offset any such gains and losses by corresponding

losses and gains, respectively, on the related asset or liability.

Interest Risk

© Our interest rate exposure is limited primarily to interest
©rate changes on our variable rate debt. The Credit Facility
' and term loans bear interest at rates that Auctuate with

.+ changes in LIBOR. For the year ended December 31,
2004, a hypothetical 109 increase in interest rates would

have increased our interest expense by approximately $0.2

million. We use interest rate caps to manage a portion

- of our interest rate risk on foreign debt. We have not

- designated these instruments as hedges for accounting

i purposes. The carrying value of the caps is not material and
- a 10% change in interest rates would not have a material

, effect on the fair value of the caps.

. Our long-term debt includes $174.3 million of Senior Notes
i with a fixed interest rate. Accordingly, there would be no

" immediate impact on our interest expense associated with

these Notes due to fluctuations in marker interest rates.

i However, based on a hypothetical 109 immediate decrease
in marker interest rates, the fair value of our Senior Notes,

i which would be sensitive to such interest rate changes, would

be increased by approximately $0.7 million as of December 31,

© 2004. Such fair value changes may affect our determination

: whether to rerain, replace or retire these Notes.

~ Item 8. Financial Statements and

- Supplementary Data

- Report of Independent Registered Public
i Accounting Firm

" Consolidated Financial Statements:

I Consolidated Statements of Income for the Years Ended
i+ December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002

i Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2004 and
2003

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended

¢ December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders” Equity for the
" Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Schedule 1T - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc.

Waltham, Massachusetts

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc. and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders” equity, and cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule
listed in the Index at Irem 15(a)(2). These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements and financial statement

schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe

that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of their operations
and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004 in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when
considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects,

the information set forth therein.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on

the criteria established in fnternal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations

of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 30, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s
assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting and an unqualified opinion on the

effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Deloitte ¢ Touche LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 30, 2005

Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc.




Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Income
(InThousands Except Share and Per Share Data)

For the years ended December 31,

2004

2003 2002
Net sales $ 375,034 $ 337,220 $ 332,297
Cost of sales 265,90| 244,667 235,146
Gross prefit 109,133 92,553 97,151
Operating expenses: :
Sales and marketing 44332 41,719 41,129
General and administrative 29,263 23,134 22,517
Amortization . 1,094 1,154 1,154
Other operating expenses : 566 764 952
Facility rationalization (363) 2,958 -
Total operating expenses 74,892 69,729 65,752
Income from operations 34,241 22,824 31,399
Other income, net (3.163) (3.517) (3.939)
Interest income (2.829) (2,175) (1.892)
Interest expense 16,266 14,120 15,171
Income before income taxes 23.967 14,396 22,059
Income tax provision 8,100 4,698 7,150
Net income $ 15867 $ 9,698 $ 14,909
Earnings per share:
Basic $ 197 $ 1.09 $ 1.68
Diluted $ 1.91 $ 1.09 $ 1.68
Weighted average shares: ‘
Basic 8,046,256 8,924,578 8.877,256
Diluted 8,925,672 8,882,165

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

8,304,066
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Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In Thousands Except Share and Per Share Data)

December 31, 2004 2003

Assets

Current assets:

Cash $ 27372 $ 42,283
Accounts, notes and other receivables, net 88,059 76,403
Inventories 172,346 152,029
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 5,937 4,533
Deferred tax assets 15,047 13,022
Total current assets 308,761 288,270
Property, plant and equipment, net 102,944 98,937
Trademarks 12,325 10,319
Goodwill 31,854 31,665
Other intangibles, net 5,290 5,782
Other assets 16,371 10,692
Total assets $ 477,545 $ 445,665

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current liabilities:

Current portion of long-term debt $ 14212 $ 10,638
Accounts payable 14,789 11,554
Other current liabilities 43,892 39,112
Total current liabilities 72,893 61,304
Long-term debt 208,580 185,964
Deferred tax liabilities 26,240 25,565
Other non-current liabilities 24,279 20,197
Total liabilities 331,992 293,030

Commitments and contingent liabilities
Stockholders’ equity:

Class A common stock, $.001 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized,
477,952 shares issued and outstanding - -

Ordinary common stock, $.001 par value, 90,000,000 shares authorized,

7,550,295 and 8,521,392 shares outstanding in 2004 and 2003, respectively 10 10

Additional paid-in capital 81,129 74,626

Retained earnings 112,587 96,720

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (737) (2,868)

Treasury stock, at cost (2,045,450 and 774,000 shares of Ordinary common

stock in 2004 and 2003, respectively) (47,436) (15,853)
Total stockholders’ equity 145,553 152,635
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 477,545 $ 445,665

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

RINE

{InThousands)
For the years ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income ‘ 15,867 $ 9,698 $ 14,909
Adjustments to reconcile net income to
cash flows from operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 11,183 10,959 11,037
Amortization of bond’ premium (230) - -
Facility rationalization (363) 4,158 -
Deferred tax benefit _ (2:497) (2,601) (1,194)
Tax benefit associated with stock option exercise 759 - -
Other 459 329 334
Changes in opericfné assets and liabilities:
Accounts, notes aﬁd leases receivable (293) 2,783 6,090
{nventories 2,003 7.373 1,877
Prepaid expenses and other assets (5,488) (857) (2,904)
Accounts payable 1,419 1,086 1,845
Other liabilities (1,054) (2,035) (3,095)
Cash flows from operating activities 23,873 30,893 28,899
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures (5.186) (5.462) (5,604)
Proceeds from sales of fixed assets 1,233 10 4
Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired (36,767) - -
Cash flows from investing activities (40,720) (5,452) (5.600)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings under lines of credit 159,787 10,606 127,604
Repayments‘under lines of credit (156,852) 8,316) (127,309)
Debt issuance costs (105) - -
Repayments of long-térm debt (7.555) (6.512) (6,352)
Repurchase of Iong—term'debt - - (4,655)
Proceeds from issuance of stock 5,744 1,455 994
Cash flows from financing activities 1,019 (2,767) (9.718)
Effects of foreign exchange rate changes on cash 917 510 (27)
Increase (decrease) in cagh (14,911) 23,184 13,554
Cash, beginning of year . 42,283 19,099 5,545
Cash, end of year 27,372 $ 42,283 $ 19,099
Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paid 17,470 14,624 15318
Income taxes paid 9,623 $ 7,131 11,363
Non-cash transaction:
Purchase of Ordinary common stock by issuance of bonds 31,583 $ - $ -

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

(InThousands Except Share Data)

Accumulated

Other Total
Additional Retained Comprehensive Stockholders’
Common Stock  Paid-In Capital Earnings Income (Loss)  Treasury Stock Equity
Balance, January |,2002 9 $ 72178 $ 72,113 $ (12,674 $ (15853) $ 115773
Comprehensive income:
Net income 14,909 14,909
Foreign currency translation adjustment 5,589 5,589
Additional minimum pension liability, net (5,986) (5,986)
Holding loss on marketable securities, net 7n (71
Total comprehensive income 14,441
Exercise of 22,400 options for
shares of common stock 425 425
Issuance of 37,389 shares of common stock 569 569
Balance, December 31,2002 9 73,172 87,022 (13,142) (15,853) 131,208
Comprehensive income:
Net income 9,698 9,698
Foreign currency translation adjustment 7,334 7,334
Additional minimum pension liability, net 2,820 2,820
Holding gain on marketable securities, net 120 120
Total comprehensive income 19,972
Exercise of 57,900 options for
shares of common stock 953 953
Issuance of 35,209 shares of common stock | 501 502
Balance, December 31,2003 10 74,626 96,720 (2,868) (15,853) 152,635
Comprehensive income:
Net income 15,867 15,867
Foreign currency translation adjustment 4,520 4,520
Additional minimum pension liability, net (2.439) (2.439)
Holding gain on marketable securities, net 50 50
Total comprehensive income 17,998
v Exercise of 267,327 options for
shares of common stock 5,274 5,274
Tax benefit of options exercised 759 759
Issuance of 33,018 shares of common stock 470 470
Purchase of 1,271,450 shares of common stock (31,583) (31.583)
Balance, December 31,2004 10 $ 81,129 $ 112,587 $ (737) $ (47,436) $ 145,553

See notes to consolidatec financial statements.
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Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements
Years Ended Decembéf 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

(Tabular Amounts in Thousands Except Share and Per Share Data)

|. Nature of Business

Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) is one of the world’s leading manufacturers of
musical instruments. The Company, through its wholly-
owned subsidiaries, The Steinway Piano Company, Inc.
(“Steinway”) and Conn-Selmer, Inc. (“Conn-Selmer”),
manufactures and distributes products within the musical
instrument industry. Steinway produces the highest
quality piano in the world and has one of the most
highly recognized and prestigious brand names. Conn-
Selmer is the leading domestic manufacturer of band &
orchestral instruments and related accessories, including
complete lines of brass, woodwind, percussion and string
instruments. Selmer Paris saxophones, Bach Stradivarius
trumpets, C.G. Conn French horns, King trombones and
Ludwig snare drums are considered by many to be the

finest such instruments in the world.

Throughout these financial statements “we,” “us,” and
“our” refer to Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc. and
subsidiaries taken as a whole. We combined the operations
of The Selmer Company, Inc. (“Selmer”) and United
Musical Instruments, Inc. (“UMI”) into Conn-Selmer
during 2002. The legal merger of UMI and Selmer became
effective January 1, 2003. References to “Selmer” and
“UMI” refer to events or circumstances prior to the merger.
On August 12, 2004, Conn-Selmer acquired substantially
all of the assets of G. Leblanc Corporation, a high-quality
band instrument manufacturer based in Wisconsin. See

Note 3 for a discussion of this acquisition.

2. Significant Aécounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation — Our consolidated
financial statements include the accounts of all
direct and indirect subsidiaries, all of which are
wholly-owned. All intercompany balances have been

eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates — The preparation of financial statements

in conformity with accounting principles generally

" accepted in the United States of America necessarily

requires us to make estimates and assumptions thar affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition — Generally, revenue is recognized
upon shipment following receipt of a valid dealer order.
(Title and risk of loss associated with products sold transfers

upon shipment.) Retail revenue is generally recognized upon

- delivery to the customer in accordance with the customer’s
purchase agreement, and restoration revenue is recognized

* based on the completed contract method. We provide for

the estimated costs of warranties, discounts and returns at

i the time of sale.

Inventories — Inventories are stated ar the lower of cost,

i determined on a first-in, first-out basis, or market.

. Depreciation and Amortization ~ Property, plant and

| equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation is provided

using the straight-line method over the estimated useful

' lives of the respective assets. Leasehold improvements are

. amortized using the straighc-line method over the estimated

useful lives of the improvements or the remaining term of

" the respective lease, whichever is shorter. Estimated useful

lives are as follows:

Buildings and improvements 15 — 40 years
Leasehold improvements 5 — 15 years
Machinery, equipment and tooling 3 - 10 years
Office furniture and fixcures 3 - 10 years
Concert and artist and rental pianos 15 years

When conditions indicate a need to do so, we evaluare the

; recoverability of our long-lived assets by comparing the

. estimated future undiscounted cash flows expected to be

- generated by those assets to their carrying value. Should the
. assessment indicate an impairment, the affected assets are

* written down to fair value. Assets held for sale are recorded

" at the lower of cost or net realizable value.
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Goodwill, Trademarks and Other Intangible Assets —
Intangible assets other than goodwill and indefinite-lived
trademarks are amortized on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. Deferred financing costs are amortized
over the repayment periods of the underlying debt. We test
our goodwill and trademark assets for impairment annually
or on an interim basis if events or circumstances indicate
that the fair value of an asset may have decreased below

its carrying value. Should an impairment be present, the
affected asset would be adjusted to its fair value. Our annual
impairment assessment is in July. We have not recognized
any impairments in the years ended December 31, 2004,
2003, and 2002.

Advertising — Advertising costs are expensed as incurred.
Advertising expense was $7.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004, $7.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2003 and $6.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2002.

Accounts, Notes and Other Receivables — Accounts, notes
and other receivables are recorded net of allowances for bad

debts, discounts and returns.

December 31, 2004 2003
Accounts receivable $ 80,484 $ 68,459
Notes and other receivables 20,846 19,123

101,330 87,582
Allowance for doubtful accounts sy (9,944)
Allowance for discounts and returns (1,460) (1,235)

$ 88,059 3 76403

Income Taxes — We provide for income taxes using an asset
and liability approach. We compute deferred income tax
assets and liabilities annually for differences beeween the
financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities that
will result in taxable or deductible amounts in the future
based on enacted tax laws and rates applicable to the periods
in which the differences are expected to affect taxable
income. We establish valuation allowances when necessary
to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that more likely

than not will be realized.

Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc.

Foreign Currency Translation and Remeasurement ~ We
translate assets and liabilities of non-U.S. operations into
U.S. dollars at year-end rates, and revenues and expenses at
average rates of exchange prevailing during the year.

We report the resulting translation adjustments as a separate
component of accumulated other comprehensive loss.

We recognize foreign currency transaction gains and losses

in the consolidated statements of income as incurred.

Foreign Currency Exchange Contracts — We enter into
foreign currency exchange contracts to mitigate the risks
from foreign currency fluctuations on certain intercompany
transactions. These contracts are not designated as hedging
instruments for accounting purposes and are not used for
trading or speculative purposes. Gains and losses arising
from fluctuations in exchange rates are recognized at the end
of each reporting period. Such gains and losses offset the
foreign currency exchange gains or losses associated with the
corresponding receivable, payable, or forecasted transaction.
We have credit risk to the extent the counterparties are
unable to fulfill their obligations on the foreign currency
exchange contracts. However, we enter into these contracts
with reputable institutions and believe we have no

significant credi risk.

Stock-based Compensation — We have an employee stock
purchase plan ("Purchase Plan”) and a stock option plan
{(“Stock Plan”), which are described more fully in Note 13.
As currently permitted under accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America, we have elected to
continue to follow the intrinsic value method in accounting

for our stock-based employee compensation arrangement.

Under the intrinsic value method, compensation
associated with stock awards to employees is determined
as the difference, if any, between the fair value of the
underlying common stock on the date compensation is
measured and the price an employee must pay to exercise
the award. Under the fair value method, the impact of
which is disclosed below, compensation associated with
stock awards to employees is determined based on the
estimated fair value of the award itself, measured using
either current market data or an established option-pricing
model. The measurement date for employee awards for
both the intrinsic and fair value mechods is generally the
date of grant. Under the intrinsic value method, we did
not recognize any stock-based compensation expense
during 2004, 2003 and 2002. (See Recent Accounting

Pronouncements below.)




The following table illustrates the effect on net income and
earnings per share if we had applied the fair value method

to measure stock-based employee compensation.

For the years ended

December 31, 2004 2003 2002

Net income, as reported $15,867 $ 9,698 $14,909

Deduct: Total stock-based

employee compensation

expense determined under

fair-value method for all .

awards, net of related tax

effects : (1,040) (838) (613)

Pro forma net income $14,827 $ 8,862 $14,296

Earnings per share: ‘ ‘
As reported — Basic $ 197 $ 109 $ 168
As reported — Diluted. = - 191 1.09 1.68
Pro forma — Basic $ 184 $ 099 $ 1.6l
Pro forma - Diluted = * 1.79 0.99 161

The fair value of options on their grant date, including the
valuation of the option feature implicit in our Purchase
Plan, was measured using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model. Key weighted-average assumptions used to apply
this pricing model are as follows:

For the years ended

December 31, 2004 2003 2002
Interest rate ‘ 1.51% 3.10% 3.48%
Expected life of

option grants (in years) 1.0 5.3 57

Expected volatility
of underlying stock 26.6% 27.0% 25.6%

The weighted-average fair value of options on their grant

date is as follows:

Far the years ended
December 31, 2004 2003 2002

Stock Plan $ 749 $ 627

Option feature

in Purchase Plan™ $ 5.6 $ 4.09 $ 478

It should be noted thar the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model was designed to value readily tradable options with
relacively short lives and no vesting restrictions. In addition,
option valuation models require the input of highly subjective
assurnptions including the expected price volatilicy. Because
the options granted are not tradable and have contractual lives
of up to ten years, and because changes in the subjective input

. assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimare, in
. management’s opinion the existing models do not provide a
 reliable measure of the fair value of the options issued under

* either the Stock Plan or Purchase Plan.

: Earnings per Common Share — Basic earnings per common
" share is computed using the weighted-average number of

' common shares outstanding during each year. Diluted
“earnings per common share reflects the effect of our

" ourstanding options (using the treasury stock method),

except when such options would be antidilutive.

. A reconciliation of the weighted-average shares used for the

' basic and diluted computations is as follows:

For the years
ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

. Weighted-average shares

| for basic earnings pershare 8,046,256 8,924,578 8,877,256
Dilutive effect
of stock options 257,810 1,094 4,909
Weighted-average
shares for diluted
earnings per share 8,304,066 8925672 8882165

- All outstanding options were included in the computation
* of diluted earnings per common share for the year ended

December 31, 2004. Options to purchase 1,130,400 and

1 1,098,300 shares of common stock at prices ranging from

. $18.55 1o $22.67 per share were outstanding during the years
y ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, but were

+ not included in the compuration of diluted net earnings per

* share because the options’ exercise prices were greater than

. the average market price of the commion shares.

" Environmental Matters — Potential environmental liabilities
i are recorded when it is probable that a loss has been incurred

~ and its amount can reasonably be estimated (see Note 14).

© Segment Reporting — We have two reportable segments:

. the piano segment and the band & orchestral instrument

| segment. We consider these two segments reportable as
i they are managed separately and the operating results of

- each segment are separately reviewed and evaluated by our

~ senior management on a regular basis. The Company’s chief

operating decision maker is the Chief Executive Officer.

© Comprehensive Income — Comprehensive income is

comprised of net income, foreign currency translation

adjustments, additional minimum pension liabilities, and

' unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale (AFS)
" marketable securities and is reported in the consolidated
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statements of stockholders” equity for all periods presented.
The components of accumulated other comprehensive loss

are as follows:

Tax Impact of Tax Impact

Foreign Gain/(Loss) Gain/(Loss) Additional of Additional  Accumulated

Currency on AFS on AFS Minimum Minimum Other

Translation Marketable Marketable Pension Pension Compre-

Adjustment Securities Securities Liability Liability hensive Loss
Balance January |,2002 $ (11,697) $ (8) $ 3 $  (1.620) $ 648 $ (12,674)
Activity 5,589 (112) 41 (9.976) 3,990 (468)
Balance December 31,2002 (6,108) (120) 44 (11,596) 4,638 (13,142)
Activity 7,334 193 (73) 4,743 (1,923) 10,274
Balance December 31,2003 1,226 73 (29) (6,853) 2,715 (2,868)
Activity 4,520 84 (34) (3.949) 1,510 2,131
Balance December 31,2004 $ 5746 $ 157 $ (63) $ (10,802) $ 4225 $ (737)

Recent Accounting Pronouncements — In December 2004,
the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) revised
Statemnent of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”)

No. 123, “Share-Based Payments” (SFAS No. 123R). This
accounting standard, which is effective for interim and
annual periods beginning after June 15, 2005, requires

the recognition of compensation expense related to stock
options using the fair value method. We plan to adopt SFAS
No. 123R in the third quarter of 2005 using the modified
prospective application method. Based on current outstanding
awards, expected participation in the Purchase Plan consistent
with past patterns, and no significant changes in the number
of shares of outstanding stock, we anticipate an impact on

earnings of approximately $.06 per share in 2005.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151,
“Inventory Costs, an amendment of ARB No. 43,
Chapter 4”7 (SFAS No. 151). This accounting standard,
which is effective for annual periods beginning after
June 15, 2005, requires that abnormal amouncs of idle
facility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted
materials (spoilage) should be recognized as current-
period charges. The adoption of SFAS No. 151 is not
expected to have a material effect on our financial

position or results of operations.

In December 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation
(“FIN”) 46R “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities
— an interpretation of ARB No. 517 (“FIN 46R”). This
interpretation, which is effective for public entities

by the end of the first reporting period ending after
December 15, 2003, addresses consolidation by business

enterprises of variable interest entities that have certain

Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc,

characteristics. The adoption of FIN 46 had no impact on

our financial statements.

Reclassifications — Certain prior year amounts have been

reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

3.Acquisition

On August 12, 2004, we acquired substantially all of the
assets and assumed the operating liabilities of G. Leblanc
Corporation (“Leblanc”) of Wisconsin, a high-quality band
inscrument manufacturer. We have included the operating
results and net assets of Leblanc in our financial statements

since the date of acquisition.

We acquired Leblanc because its line of instruments and
accessories is complementary to our existing product
lines, enabling us to gain or strengthen market share

in certain instrument categories. Under terms of the

asset purchase agreement, the Company provisionally
disbursed $37.6 million for the purchase price, of which
$4.5 million is being held in escrow pending expiration

of the indemnification period. The final purchase price

is dependent upon a calculation derived from the closing
balance sheet which, when finalized, may result in a
recovery of a portion of the initial payment, or may require
an additional payment to be made. At December 31,
2004, the Company recognized an expected recovery of
$0.8 million of the provisional purchase price based on
current information. We are still accumulating certain
information relative to the valuation of property and other
assets that may impact the final purchase price allocation.

Accordingly, the final purchase price allocation may differ



from the amounts presented below. The purchase price is
based on the preliminary acquisition cost determination of
$36.8 million and has been allocated to acquired assets and
assumed liabilities as of August 12, 2004 as follows:

"Depreciation expense was $10.1 million in 2004, $9.8
imillion in 2003, and $9.9 million in 2002. In 2003, we
-recognized impairment charges for certain land, building,
,and equipment assets of the band segment as a result of

‘our facility rationalization project, which is discussed more

Inventories $ 20,682 "fully in Note 9.

Receivables and other current assets 12,675 :

Property, plant, and equipment 6,508

Trademarks 1690 6. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Non-compete agréements ‘ 500

Other assets ’ 628 December 31, 2004 2003

Accounts payable ' (1,450) :1 Amortizing intangible assets:

Recourse reserves (1,138) Gross deferred financing costs $ 8627 $ 9293

Environmental reserves (815) ¢ Accumulated amortization (3,834) (3.596)

Other liabilities : (2,508) , Deferred financing costs, net $ 4,793 $ 5,697
' $ 36772

Subsequent footnotes providing details of our significant
balance sheet accounts include the impact of the Leblanc

acquisition as of December 31, 2004.

4. Inventories

December 31, o 2004 2003
Raw materials $ 23,439 $ 21,268
Work-in-process 54,612 50,620
Finished goods 94,295 80,141

$ 172,346 $ 152,029

5. Property, Plant and Equipment, Net

December 31, L 2004 2003

Land $ 20276 $ 19718
Buildings and improvemenﬁ; ‘ 69,640 65,285
Leasehold improvements 3,978 3,613
Machinery, equipment and tooling 52,058 48,290
Office furnituré and fixtures : 10,692 11,294
Concert and artist and rental pianos 15,526 13,877
Construction-in-progresg 1,247 812
Total 173,417 162,889
Less accumulated :
depreciation and amortization 70,473 63,952
$ 102,944 $ 98937

Gross covenants not to compete $ 750 $ 250

Accumulated amortization (253) (165)
Covenants not to compete, net $ 497 $ 85
. Non-amertizing intangible assets:
Gross goodwilt $ 38744 $ 38,366
Accumulated amortization (6,890) (6,701)
Goodwill, net $ 31,854 $ 31,665
Gross trademarks $ 27,643 $ 25,059
Accumulated amortization (15,318) (14,740)
Trademarks, net $ 12,325 $ 10319

"The changes in the net carrying amounts of goodwill and

trademarks are as follows:

Piano Band
‘ Segment Segment Total
¢ Goodwill:
i Balance at
December 31,2002 $20,984 $ 8,555 $29,539
Foreign currency
translation impact 2,126 - 2,126
Balance at
December 31,2003 $23,110 $ 8,555 $31,665
Balance at
December 31,2003 $23,110 $ 8,555 $31,665
Valuation allowance
adjustment (see Note | 1) (822) - (822)
Foreign currency
translation impact 1,011 - 1,011
Balance at
December 31,2004 $23,299 $ 8555 $31,854
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Piano Band

Segment Segment Total
Trademarks:

Balance at
December 31,2002 $ 6,980 $ 2,671 $ 9,651
Foreign currency
translation impact 668 - 668
Balance at
December 31,2003 $ 7,648 $ 2,671 $10,319
Balance at
December 31,2003 $ 7,648 $ 2,671 $10319
Additions based on
preliminary purchase
price allocation to
acquired assets - 1,690 1,690
Foreign currency
translation impact 3ié - 316
Balance at
December 31,2004 $ 7,964 $ 4,361 $ 12,325

The weighted-average amortization period for deferred

financing costs is 9 years, and the weighted-average

amortization period of covenants not to compete is 5 years.

8. Other Current Liabilities

December 31, 2004 2003
Accrued payroll and related benefits $ 18072 $ 16986
Current portion of pension liability 2,811 2,663
Accrued warranty expense 2,139 2,602
Accrued interest 3,257 2,706
Deferred income 4,468 4,161
Other accrued expenses 13,145 9,994

$ 43892 $ 39,112

Accrued warranty expense is recorded at the time of sale for
instruments that have a warranty period ranging from one
to ten years. The accrued expense recorded is based on a
percentage of sales and is adjusted periodically following an

analysis of historical warranty activity.

For the years ended
December 31, 2004 2003 2002

Accrued warranty expense:

The following table summarizes amortization expense: Beginning balance $ 2602 $ 2357 $ 2220
Additions 932 1,361 950
For the years ending Claims and reversals (1,455) (1,314) (966)

December 31, 2004 2003 2002 Foreign currency translation 60 198 152

Total amortization expense $ 1,094 $ 1,154 $ 1,154 Ending balance $ 2,139 $ 2,602 $ 2,357

The following table shows the estimated amortization
expense for intangible assets for each of the five succeeding

fiscal years:

Estimated amortization expense Amount
2005 $ 1,101
2006 1,065
2007 1,066
2008 920
2009 530
7. Other Assets
December 31, 2004 2003
Intangible pension assets $ 2,801 $ 3,782
Notes receivable 7518 4,812
Marketable securities 891 515
Deposits 3,564 350
Other assets 1,597 1,233
$16,371 $10,692

Steinway Musical instruments, Inc.

9. Facility Rationalization — Band Segment

In 2003, we began a facility rationalization project

to reduce excess manufacturing capacity in our band
segment. As part of this project, we closed our woodwind
manufacturing facilities in Nogales, Arizona in November
2003. As a result of this closing, we recorded charges of
$0.6 million in severance expenses and $1.0 million in
inventory write-down charges as components of cost of
goods sold. We also recorded $2.1 million in impairment

charges as a component of operating expenses.

In October 2003, we announced the closure of one of our
woodwind manufacturing facilities in Elkhart, Indiana

and our intent to transfer that plant’s production to other
company-owned facilities. We recorded charges of $1.1
million in severance expenses and $0.2 million of inventory
write-down charges as components of cost of goods sold.
We also recorded $0.9 million in related impairment

charges. In 2004, we recorded $1.4 million in severance




expenses, and ceased operating this facility in April 2004,

All costs associated with this closure were paid out by

December 31, 2004..

The accrued severance liability activity associated with the
band segment’s facilicy rationalization project for the years

ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 is as follows:

For the years ended December 31, 2004

2003
Facility rationalization | |
severance liability:
Beginning balaﬁce $ 1,158 $ -
Additions charged to cost of sales 1,444 1,683
Payments | (2,575) (525)
Reversals o 27) -
Ending balance s $ - $ 1,158

The impairment cha‘réés recorded in 2003 were reported

as a separate component of operating expenses labeled

“facility rationalization” and related to buildings, land, and
equipment affected by the plant closures. The impairment
costs associated with the land and buildings were calculated
based on the excess of the carrying value over net realizable
value for such assets as we planned to sell the assets. The

equipment impairment charges were based on our ability

to utilize the equipment at other facilities, or until the

rationalization project is complete, with remaining useful

lives and associated depreciation adjusted accordingly.

In 2004, we realized a gain of $0.1 million on the sale of
equipment for which we had taken an impairment charge.
In December 2004, we sold one of the Nogales, Arizona

facilities, valued at $0.7 million, for $1.0 million, resulting

in a gain on sale of approximately $0.3 million. The

smaller facility, which has a carrying value of $0.2 million,

is currently being leased to a third parcy. This facility is

classified as an asset held and used as it had been held for
sale for more than a year. We are continuing efforts to sell

this property. The Elkhart, Indiana facility, which ceased

operating in April 2004, has no carrying value.

i

i The components of the $3.0 million in impairment charges

- recorded in 2003, and the gains resulting from sales of

© certain impaired assets in 2004, are as follows:

For the years ended December 31, 2004 2003
Asset category:
Land $ - $ 501
Buildings (287) 2,202
Equipment (76) 255
$ (363) $ 2,958
. 10. Other Income, Net
For the years ended
December 31, 2004 2003 2002
West 57th Building income $ (4,653) $ (4,653) $ (4,653)
West 57th Building expenses 3,254 3,254 3,254
Foreign exchange (gain) loss,
net (41) 815) (691)
Miscellaneous, net (1,723) (1,303) {(1,849)
$ (3,163) $(3517) $ (3.939)

~11.Income Taxes

The components of the provision for income taxes

“+ are as follows:

For the years ended

December 31, 2004 2003 2002
U.S. federal:
Current $ 2,838 $ 2,300 $ 3,89
Deferred (1,990 (2,117) 7
U.S. state and local:
Current 877 729 829
Deferred (166) (177) 76
Foreign:
Current 6,882 4,270 3.619
Deferred (341) (307) (1,277)
$ 8,100 $ 4,698 $ 7,150
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The components of income before income taxes are as follows:

For the years ended

December 31, 2004 2003 2002
U.S. operations $ 6,847 $ 3,860 $12,839
Non-U.S. operations 17,120 10,536 9,220

$23,967 314,396 $22,059

Our income tax provision differed from that using the

statutory U.S. federal rate as follows:

For the years ended
December 31, 2004 2003 2002

Statutory federal rate
applied to income

before income taxes $ 8,388 $ 5,039 $ 7,721
Increase (decrease) in
income taxes resulting from:
Foreign income taxes (net
of federal benefit) 1,621 (2,643) 21
State income taxes
(net of federal benefit) 773 518 391
Other (2,682) 1,784 (983)
Income tax provision $ 8,100 $ 4,698 $ 7,150

At December 31, 2004, accumulated retained earnings

of non-U.S. subsidiaries totaled $5.7 million. We did not
provide for U.S. income taxes or foreign withholding taxes
for these subsidiaries because our current intention is to

reinvest such earnings.

Steinway Musical Instruments, inc.

The components of net deferred taxes are as follows:

December 31, 2004 2003

Deferred tax assets:

Uniform capitalization and reserve

adjustments to inventory $ 2523 % 3,527
Allowance for doubtful accounts 2412 2,378
Accrued expenses and other current
assets and liabilities 7,945 3,771
Additional minimum pension liability 4,225 2,715
Net operating losses 4,615 2,895
Valuation allowances on operating losses (4.610) (2,895)
Foreign tax credits 9,527 7,137
Valuation allowances
on foreign tax credits (6,862) (6.439)
Total deferred tax assets 19,775 19,089

Deferred tax liabilities:

Pension contributions (2.586) (2,800)
Fixed assets (20,236) (19,227)
Unamortized tax method change (896) (2,748)
Intangibles (7.250) (6,857)

Total deferred tax liabilities (30,968) (31,632)

Net deferred taxes $ (11,193) $ (12,543)

Valuation allowances provided relate to net operating
loss carryforwards and excess foreign tax credits
generated over expected utilization in our tax return.
Gross tax loss carryforwards totaled $65.2 million as of

December 31, 2004 and expire in varying amounts from

2005 through 2024.

Valuation allowances relating to the acquisition of Steinway
totaled $3.3 million as of December 31, 2004 and $4.3
million as of December 31, 2003. If these valuation
allowances are removed, the reversal reduces goodwill. In
2004, we removed a portion of these valuation allowances

and, as a result, we reduced goodwill by $0.8 million.

During 2004, the valuation allowance on foreign tax
credits increased by $0.4 million due to the generation of
additional excess foreign tax credits, a portion of which
we do not expect to be able to utilize in our furure federal
tax returns. As a result of changes in certain tax legislation
which extended foreign tax credit carryover periods, our
foreign tax credit carryforwards now expire in varying
amounts from 2009 through 2014. Accordingly, we were
able to recognize a parrial benefit of $0.9 million for

the current year’s excess foreign tax credits based on our

expected utilization.




12. LongQTerm Debt

December 31, 2004 2003
Term loans $ 39623 $ 47,178
8.75% Senior Notes 174,345 145,345
Unamortized bond premiﬁm 1,584

Open account loans, payable on ‘

demand to a foreign bank - 7,240 4,079
Total 222,792 196,602
Less current portion 14,212 10,638
Long-term debt $ 208,580 $ 185,964

Scheduled payments of long-term debt as of December 31,
2004 are as follows:

Amount

2005 ‘ $ 14212
2006 8,139
2007 8,196
2008 16,316
2009 : -
Thereafter 174,345
$ 221,208

Our real estate term loan, acquisition term loan,

and domestic, seasonal borrowing requirements are
accommodated through a committed credic facility with

a syndicate of domestic lenders (the “Credit Facility”).

The Credit Facility provides us with a potential borrowing
capacity of $85.0 million in revolving credit, and expires on
September 14, 2008. Borrowings are collateralized by our
domestic accounts receivable, inventory and fixed assets. As
of December 31, 2004, there were no revolving credit loans
outstanding, and availability based on eligible accounts
receivable and inventory balances was approximately $82.6
million, net of outstanding letters of credit. The real estate
term loan ($16.7 million at December 31, 2004) is payable
in monthly installments of $0.2 million and includes interest
at average 30-day LIBOR (2.4% at December V31, 2004) plus
1.5%. This term loan is secured by all of our interests in the
Steinway Hall property. The acquisition term loan ($22.9
million at December 31, 2004) is repayable in monthly
installments of $0.4 million through August 2005 and
monthly installments of $0.6 million from September 20035
through September 2008. The acquisition term loan and
revolving credit loans under the Credit Facility bear interest
at average 30-day LIBOR plus 1.75%.

On April 19, 2001, we issued $150.0 million 8.75% Senior

" Notes due 2011, In December 2002 we repurchased $4.7

million of these notes at 99.25%. In February 2004, we

~ purchased 1,271,450 shares of our Ordinary common

stock. In exchange, we tendered $29.0 million in principal

t amount of our 8.75% Senior Notes, which we issued under

our current indenture at a premium of 106.3%.

We also have certain non-domestic credit facilities that

| provide for borrowings by foreign subsidiaries of up to

€17.0 million ($23.1 million at the December 31, 2004

' exchange rate) payable on demand. These borrowings

© are collateralized by most of the assets of the borrowing

- subsidiaries. A portion of the open account loans can

i be converted into a maximum of £0.5 million ($1.0

million at the December 31, 2004 exchange rate) for

+ use by our UK branch and ¥700 million ($6.8 million
* at the December 31, 2004 exchange rate) for use by our
. Japanese subsidiary. Demand borrowings bear interest
i at rates of 6.70 — 7.10% for the euro loans, 5.5% for the

 British pound loans, and 1.265% for Japanese yen loans.

¢ Our outstanding borrowings on these loans totaled $7.2

" million as of December 31, 2004. We have purchased

i two interest rate caps on a portion of those loans to

i mitigate our cash flow exposure to changes in interest
rates. One cap limits the base interest rate to 5% on €0.5
o million ($0.7 million at the December 31, 2004 exchange

 rate) and expires in 2005. The other cap limits the base

interest rate to 6.25% on €1.5 million ($2.1 million at the

" December 31, 2004 exchange rate) and expires in 2005.

i As we have not designated these instruments as hedges for

" accounting purposes, we record these instruments at fair

value and recognize the change in fair value in earnings.

. The unrealized gains or losses and carrying value of the

caps are not material in any period presented.

- All of our debt agreements contain certain financial and

+ non-financial covenants which, among other things,

! require the maintenance of certain financial ratios and net

- worth, place certain limitations on additional borrowings

and capital expenditures, prohibit the payment of cash

" dividends, and require periodic report submissions to the

" lending institution or trustee. We were in compliance with

* all such covenants as of December 31, 2004,
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13. Stockholders’ EqUit)’ and Stock Employee Stock Purchase Plan — We have an employee

stock purchase plan under which substantially all employees

Arrangements may purchase Ordinary common stock through payroll

deductions at a purchase price equal to 85% of the lower

Our common stock is comprised of two classes: Class A . o
P of the fair market values as of the beginning or end of each

and Ordinary. With the excepion of disparate voring twelve-month offering period. Stock purchases under the

, both cl b ially identical. Each sh
power, both classes are substantally identical, Bach share Purchase Plan are limited to 5% of an employee’s annual

fClass A k entitles the hold 98 .
of S-4ass £ common stock entitles the holder to 75 votes base earnings. Shares issued under the Purchase Plan were
33,018 during 2004, 35,209 during 2003, and 37,389
during 2002. Of the 500,000 shares originally reserved for

issuance under the Purchase Plan, 243,572 shares remain

Holders of Ordinary common stock are entitled to one
vote per share. Class A common stock shall automatically
convert to Ordinary common stock if, at any time, the
Class A common stock is not owned by an original Class

ilable for fi i f 1, 2004.
A holder. The Chairman and Chief Executive Officer available for future issuance as of December 31, 200

own 100% of the Class A common shares, representing Stock Plan — The 1996 stock plan, as amended, provides
approximately 86% of the combined voting power of the for the granting of 1,500,000 stock options {including
Class A common stock and Ordinary common stock. incentive stock options and non-qualified stock options),

stock appreciation rights and other stock awards to certain
key employees, consultants and advisors. As of December
31, 2004, 1,105,673 shares of Ordinary common stock were

reserved for issuance under the Stock Plan.

The following table sets forth information regarding both
the Purchase Plan and the Stock Plan:

2004 2003 2002
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Number of Average Number of Average Number of Average
Options Exercise Price Options Exercise Price Options Exercise Price
Qutstanding at beginning of year 1,154,747 $ 1963 1,112,447 $ 19.07 628,262 $ 19.07
Granted 27,825 17.81 250,909 21.16 561,174 18.80
Exercised (300,345) 18.65 93,109) 17.26 (59,789) l 16.63
Canceled, forfeited or expired (10,000) 19.00 (115,500) 19.06 (17,200) 19.01
Outstanding at end of year 872,227 19.92 1,154,747 19.63 1,112,447 19.07
Exercisable at end of year 410,173 $ 19.45 525,100 $ 19.19 507,400 $ 19.21

The following table sets forth information regarding

outstanding and exercisable options at December 31, 2004:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Number of Average Average Number of Average
Range of Exercise Prices Options Remaining Life Exercise Price Options Exercise Price
$14.73 - $20.75 643,173 5.7 years $ 18.94 354,673 $ 18.99
$21.13 - $22.67 219,900 8.6 years 22.60 55,500 22.39
$25.10 9,154 0.6 years 25.10 - -
872,227 6.4 years $ 19.92 410,173 3 19.45
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I4. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities
Lease Commitments — We lease various facilities

and equipment under non-cancelable operating lease
arrangements. These leases expire at various times through
2016. Rent expense was $5.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004, $4.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2003, and $4.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2002.

In March 1999, we acquired the building that includes
the Steinway Hall retail store on West 57th Street in New
York City for approximately $30.8 million. We entered

into a ninety-nine year land lease as part of the transaction.

Annual rent payable under the land lease is $2.2 million in
the first ten years, $2.8 million for the subsequent ten-year
period and will be adjusted every twenty years thereafter
to the greater of the existing rent or 4% of the fair market
value of the land and building combined. Rent expense is
being recognized on a straight-line basis over the twenty-
year period. We also entered into a ten-year master lease
whereby all of our interest in the land and building was
leased back to the owner of the land. Rental expense and
rental income associated with these leases was included,
along with other real estate costs, in Other Income, Net
(see Note 10).

Future minimum lease payments for our non-cancelable
operating leases, excluding the land lease discussed
above, and future rental income under the master lease

are as follows:

. Lease Rental
For the years ending December 31, Payments Income
2005 ‘ y $ 5,015 $ 4,653
2006 - 4302 4653
2007 3,877 4,653
2008 . 1,940 4,653
2009 Ck 1,289 =
Thereafter 6,145 -

$ 22,568 $ 18612

" In 2008, if the master lease is not renewed or replaced we would then
directly receive the rental income from all other tenants in the building.

Employment Agreements and Other Obligations — We
maintain employment agreements with certain employees
and consultants. Most of these agreements have one-year
terms and contain automatic renewal provisions. Our
obligation under these agreements at current compensation

levels is approximately $1.2 million per year.

. We maintain employment agreements that expire in

2006 with both our Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer. These individuals collectively hold 100% of the
Class A common shares, representing over 86% of the
combined voting power of the Class A common stock

and Ordinary common stock. Our total obligation

under these agreements is approximately $1.3 million.
Should these agreements not be renewed in 2006, we
would be obligated to pay out an additional $3.3 million.
Further, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer have
established a limited liability corporation to which we pay
reimbursement of certain rent, overhead and travel-related
expenses. These reimbursements totaled $0.2 million in
each of the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002. We included less than $0.1 million in accounts
payable related to these expenses in each of the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002.

Notes Receivable Financed with Recourse — In 2002, our
customers financed notes receivable with a third party, to which
we had a recourse obligation under the financing agreement.
We received proceeds of $2.6 million from the financing of
such notes. In 2003, no customer receivables were subject

to such financing or recourse obligations. In 2004, certain
customers of our subsidiary Leblanc financed notes receivable
with a third party, to which we have a recourse obligation. We
received proceeds of $1.4 million from the customer financing
of such notes. As of December 31, 2004, the outstanding
balance on these customer notes was $3.0 million. We have
included a corresponding recourse obligation of $1.2 million in
other current liabilities as of December 31, 2004. We expect the
duration of our recourse obligation not to exceed one year. Our
total maximum recourse obligation under this arrangement
includes the outstanding balance on the notes, as well as any
interest or late fees that may be incurred by our customers. We
received an indemnification from G. Leblanc Corporation in
connection with our acquisition of cerain of its assets. (See Note
3.) As of December 31, 2004, we have recognized a receivable

of $0.6 million associated with this indemnification.

Retail Financing Obligations — Certain of our foreign retail
sales were financed by our customers through a local bank
under an arrangement that included an obligation on our
part to repurchase pianos seized by the bank upon default
of the customer. The buy back price is established as a
percentage of the original sales price, starting at 80% in the
first year and declining to 30% in the fifth year of the loan.
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This program ceased in the first quarter of 2003.
Nevertheless, because our obligation continues until the
bank is paid in full by the customer, our commitment can
remain outstanding for up to 8 years — the maximum term

of the consumer loan.

Our maximum obligation under this arrangement is
estimated to be approximately €1.4 million ($1.8 million

at the December 31, 2004 exchange rate). To date, we

have not been required to repurchase any pianos under this
program and we believe the likelihood of such repurchase
in the future is remote. Accordingly we have not recognized
a liability for this obligation in our financial statements.
Further, in the unlikely event of a repurchase, we believe
the proceeds received upon our resale of the piano would
exceed the amount payable to the bank.

Legal and Environmental Matters — We are involved in certain
legal proceedings regarding environmental matters, which are
described below. Further, in the ordinary course of business, we
are party to various legal actions that we believe are routine in
nature and incidental to the operation of our business. While
the outcome of such actions cannot be predicted with certainty,
we believe that, based on our experience in dealing with these
matters, their ultimate resolution will not have a material
adverse impact on our business, financial condition, results of

operations or prospects.

We operated manufacturing facilities at certain locations
where hazardous substances (including chlorinated
solvents) were used. We believe that an entity that formerly
operated one such facility may have released hazardous
substances at such location, which we leased through July
2001. We did not contribute to the release. Further, we
have a contractual indemnity from certain stockholders

of this entity. This facility is not the subject of a legal
proceeding that involves us, nor, to our knowledge, is the
facility subject to investigation. However, no assurance can
be given that legal proceedings will not arise in the future
and that such indemnirors would make the payments

described in the indemnity.

We operate other manufacturing facilities that were
previously owned by Philips Electronics North America
Corporation (“Philips”). Philips agreed to indemnify

us for any and all losses, damages, liabilities and claims
relating to environmental matters resulting from certain
activities of Philips occurring prior to December 29, 1988
(the “Environmental Indemnity Agreement”). Philips has
fully performed its obligations under the Environmental

Indemnity Agreement, which terminates on December 29,

Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc.

2008. Four marters covered by the Environmental Indemnity
Agreement are currently pending. Philips has entered into
Consent Orders with the Environmental Protection Agency
(“EPA”) for one site and the North Carolina Department of
Environment, Health and Natural Resources for a second
site, whereby Philips has agreed to pay required response
costs. On October 22, 1998, we were joined as defendant

in an action involving a site formerly occupied by a business
we acquired in Illinois. Philips has accepred the defense

of this action pursuant to the terms of the Environmental
Indemnity Agreement. For the fourth site, the EPA has
notified us it intends to carry out the final remediation itself.
The EPA estimates that this remedy has a present net cost
of approximately $14.5 million. The EPA has named over
40 persons or entities as potentially responsible parties at
this site, which includes certain facilities that we acquired in
2000. This matter has been tendered to Philips pursuant to
the Environmental Indemnity Agreement for those facilities
that were acquired from Philips. Our potential liability at
any of these sites is affected by several factors including, but
not limited to, the method of remediation, our portion of
the materials in the site relative to the other named parties,
the number of parties participating, and the financial
capabilities of the other potentially responsible parties once
the relative share has been determined. No assurance can

be given, however, that additional environmental issues will
not require additional, currently unanticipated investigation,
assessment or remediation expenditures or that Philips

will make payments that it is obligated to make under the

Environmental Indemnity Agreement.

We are also continuing an existing environmental
remediation program at a facility acquired in 2000. We
currently estimate thar this project will take eighteen
years to complete, at a total cost of approximately $1.0
million. We have accrued approximately $0.8 million for
the estimated remaining cost of this remediation program,
which represents the present value of the total estimated
cost using a discount rate of 4.54%. A summary of

expected payments associated with this project is as follows:

Environmental Payments

2005 $ 237
2006 75
2007 54
2008 47
2009 47
Thereafter S5i4

$ 974




In 2004, we acquired manufacturing facilities for which
environmental remediation programs had already been
established. Based on our current assessment, we have
accrued approximatel}} $0.8 million for the cost of these

remediation programs.

The matters described above and our other liabilities and
compliance costs arising under environmental laws are

not expected to have a material impact on our capital E
expenditures, earnings, or competitive position in any
individual year. However, some risk of environmental
liability is inherent in the nature of our current and former
business and we might, in the future, incur material costs
to meet current or more stringent compliance, cleanup, or

other obligations pursuant to environmental laws.

| 5. Retirement Plans !

We have defined benefit pension plans covering the
majority of our employees, including certain employees in
foreign countries. Certain domestic hourly employees are
covered by multi-employer defined benefit pension plans

to which we make contributions. These contributions
totaled $1.1 million in 2004, $1.0 million in 2003 and $1.0
million in 2002. The corresponding pension plan assets
and liabilities belong to third parties and, accordingly, are
not reflected in this Note.

Our plan assets are invested primarily in common stocks
and fixed income securities. We make contributions to our
domestic plan with che objective of maintaining a fully
funded status for the accumulated benefit obligation and a
90% funded status for the projected benefit obligation. At
a minimum, our contributions equal the amounts required
by federal laws and regulations. Foreign plans are funded in
accordance with the requirements of the regulatory bodies

governing each plan.

Effective December 31, 2003, we amended the Steinway
Salaried Pension Plan (the “Steinway Plan”) to eliminate future
years of service credit. All distributions upon termination of
employment will continue in the normal course under the
Steinway Plan. Since the Steinway Plan is based on years of
service and is not impacted by salary increases, no curtailment

gain or loss resulted from the amendment.

In December 2003, we combined all of our domestic
pension plans into one plan, “The Steinway Musical
Pension Plan,” to facilitate plan monitoring and plan
investment management. We intend to establish a master
trust for this combined plan in 2005. We will continue to
evaluate this plan’s funded status and make any required

minimum contributions annually.
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The following table sets forth the funded status and

amounts recognized for our defined benefit pension plans:

Domestic Plans

Foreign Plans

December 31, 2004 2003 2004 2003
Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation, beginning of year $ 43,987 $ 38,858 $ 24,026 $ 19,240
Service cost 785 804 593 629
Interest cost 2,837 2,564 1,295 1,100
Plan participants’ contributions 13 15 63 -
Amendments 65 1,841 - -
Actuarial (gain) loss 3,821 (715) 1,880 517
Foreign currency exchange rate changes - - 2,056 3,550
Curtailment gain (126) - - -
Other - 2,384 - -
Benefits paid (2,506) (1,764) (1,150) (1,010)

Benefit obligation, end of year 48,876 43,987 28,763 24,026
Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year 42353 27,379 3,788 3,313
Actual return on plan assets 5,187 6,507 352 75
Employer contribution 2,350 8,293 1,124 982
Employee contributions 13 15 60 55
Foreign currency exchange rate changes - - 302 373
Other - 2,146 - -
Benefits paid (2,506} (1,987) (1,150) (1,010)

Fair value of plan assets, end of year 47,397 42,353 4476 3,788
" Funded status (1,479) (1,634) (24,287) (20,238)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss 8,656 6,596 3,623 1,605
Unrecognized prior service cost 2,801 3,782 - -
Net amount recognized $ 9,978 $ 8,744 $ (20,664) $ (18,633)
Amounts recognized in the balance sheet consist of:
Accrued benefit cost $  (1,479) $  (1,634) $ (22,810) $ (18,890}
Intangible assets 2,801 3,782 - -
Additional minimum pension liability 8,656 6,596 2,146 257
Net amount recognized $ 9978 $ 8744 $ (20,664) $ (18633)
The weighted-average assumptions used to determine our benefit
obligations are as follows:
Domestic Plans Foreign Plans
December 31, 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
Discount rate 6.00% 6.50% 6.75% 4.85% 5.52% 5.53%
Rate of compensation increase nfa nfa 4.0 2.49% 2.88% 2.75%
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The weighted-average assumptions used to determine our net
periodic benefit cost are as follows:

Domestic Plans

Foreign Plans

For the Years ended

December 31, 3 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
Discount rate 6.50% 6.75% 7.50% 4.95% 5.52% 5.53%
Expected return on assets 9.0 9.0 9.0 6.75 6.75 6.75
Rate of compensétion increase nfa nfa 4.0 2.56% 2.88% 2.75%

The components of net pension expense for the years ended

December 31 are as follows;

For the years ended -
December 31, 2004 2003 2002

Domestic Plans:

Service cost - $ 785 $ 804 $ 1,354

Interest cost ‘ ’ 2,837 2,564 2,508

Expected return &

on plan assets (3,820) (2,539) (3.170)

Amortization of

prior service cost ‘ 585 585 410

Recognized actuarial loss 269 540 5

Other ‘ - 237 -

Curtailment loss 2 461 - 10

Net pension expense $ L7 $ 2,191 $ L7

Foreign Plans:

Service cost o $ 593 $ 629 $ 574

Interest cost o 1,295 1,100 1,054

Expected return )

on plan assets (223) (189) (145)
$ 1,665 $ 1,540 $ 1,483

Net pension expense

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit
obligation, and fair value of plan assets for pension plans
with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan

assets were as follows:

2004 2003
Projected benefit obligation $ 77,639 $68013
Accumulated benefit obligation 76,161 65,863
Fair value of plan assets 51,873 46,141

The accumulated benefit obligation for our domestic
pension plans was $48.9 million in 2004 and $44.0 million
in 2003. The accumulated benefit obligation for our
foreign pension plans was $27.3 million in 2004 and $21.9
million in 2003.

The weighted-average asset allocations of our invested

assets held in our domestic defined benefit plans were as

follows:
December 31, 2004 2003
Asset category:
Debt securities 37% 38%
Equity securities 61% 48%
Other 2% 14%

100% 100%

Domestic plan assets include 52,631 shares of the

Company’s Ordinary common stock, which was valued at
$1.5 million as of December 31, 2004 and $1.3 million as
of December 31, 2003. This represents less than 4% of the

total plan assets.

Our investment strategy includes the following range of

target asset allocation percentages:

Asset category: Minimum Maximum
Domestic equity securities 25% 65%
International and other equity

securities 5% 30%
International debt securities 5% 15%
Domestic debt securities 20% 40%

The objective of our investment policy is to maximize the
return on invested assets while maintaining an appropriate
leve! of diversification to minimize risk. Our policy sets
forth specific criteria used in the selection and ongoing

evaluation of individual fund managers.

Our investment committee generally meets on a quarterly
basis with an outside registered investment advisor to review
actual performance against relevant benchmarks, such as
the S&P 500 Index. Consistent with our policy, changes in
fund managers are made when a fund falls outside of our

predetermined guidelines for an extended period.
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The investment committee reviews our domestic benefit
obligations no less than annually with the objective of
maintaining a fully funded status for the accumulated benefit
obligation and a 90% funded status for the projected benefic
obligation. Whenever possible, our annual contribution is
expected to cover the short-term liquidity requirements of

the plan, so as to maintain the plan’s assets for long-term
investment. The performance goal set for the plan’s assets is to

achieve a long-term rate of return no less than 8.5%.

For the periods ended December 31, 2004 and December
31, 2003 we used an assumed long-term rate of return

on domestic plan assets of 9% and foreign plan assets of
6.75%. These rates were developed with input from our
actuaries and our investment committee and are based on
long-term rates of return for the assets held. This rate is
consistent with both previous rates we have used and the

historical return trends on our plan assets.

Our German plans do not hold assets and pay participant
benefits as incurred. Expected 2005 benefit payments under
these plans are $1.1 million. The domestic plan invests a small
portion of its assets in a group annuity contract. 2005 benefits

expected to be covered by this contract are $0.2 million.

We made contributions te our domestic pension plan of
$2.4 million in 2004 and $8.3 million in 2003. Based
on our funding history, we are not required to make

a contribution to our domestic pension plan in 2005.
Nevertheless, we anticipate contributing approximately
$1.5 million in 2005.

Contributions to our U.K. plan totaled $0.2 million in both
2004 and 2003. We anticipate contributing approximately
$0.2 million to this plan in 2005. Due to the unfunded
status of the German plans, 2005 anticipated contributions

are equal to anticipated benefit payments of $1.1 million.

The domestic and foreign pension plans expect to pay

benefits in each year from 2005 through 2014 as follows:

Domestic Foreign

Plans Plans

2005 $ 235 $ 1332
2006 2,485 1,327
2007 2,649 1,326
2008 2,765 1,300
2009 2,924 1,307
2010-12014 16,328 7,159

$ 29,507 $ 13751

Steinyvay Musical Instruments, Ine.

We provide postretirement health care and life insurance
benefits to eligible hourly retirees and their dependents. The
health care plan is contributory, with retiree contributions
adjusted every three years as part of a union contract. The
plans are unfunded and we pay part of the health care

premium and the full amount of the life insurance cost.

The following table sets forth the funded status of our
postretirement benefit plans and accrued postretirement

benefit cost reflected in our consolidated balance sheets:

December 31, 2004 2003
Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation, beginning of year $ 2267 $ 2014
Service cost 24 70
Interest cost 110 139
Plan participants’ contributions 63 49
Curtailment gain (255) -
Actuarial (gain) loss (393) 145
Benefits paid (219) (150)

Benefit obligation, end of year 1,597 2,267

Fair value of plan assets - -

Funded status (1,597) (2,267)

Unrecognized net actuarial loss (185) 463

Unrecognized prior service cost 30 457

Accrued postretirement benefit cost $ (1,471) $ (1,347)

The assumed weighted-average discount rate used to
determine benefit obligations as of December 31 was
6.00% in 2004, 6.50% in 2003 and 6.75% in 2002, The
assumed weighted-average discount rate used to determine
our net postretirement benefit cost for the vears ended
December 31 was 6.5% in 2004, 6.75% in 2003, and
7.50% in 2002. The annual assumed rate of increase in the
per capita cost of covered health care benefits was 10.0%
in 2003 and is assumed to decrease gradually to 5.50% in

2013, and remain at thar level thereafter.




Net postretirement benefit costs are as follows:

For the years ended

December 31, 2004 2003 2002
Service cost %8 4 8 70 3 60
Interest cost ‘ 110 {39 129
Net loss recognition 9 - - -
Amortization of

prior service cost 146 62 48
Net postretirement

benefit cost $ 280 $ 271 $ 237

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant
effect on the amouncs reported for the health care plan. A
one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost

trend rates would have the following effects:

1% Increase 1% Decrease
Effect on total of service and interest
cost components s $ 6 § (®
Effect on the postretirement“beneﬁt
obligation $ 63 $  (56)

The domestic postretirement health care and life insurance
plan expects to pay benefits in each year from 2005
through 2014 as follows:

2005 $ 275

2006 o 300
2007 A 310
2008 ‘ _ 325
2009 | ‘ 340
Thereafter : 1,560

$ 3,010

We sponsor 401(k) retirement savings plans for eligible
employees. Discretionary employer contributions, as
determined annually by the Board of Directors, are made
to two of these plans and approximated $0.6 million

for 2004, $0.6 million for 2003, and $0.5 million for
2002. Non-discretionary contributions approximated
$0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, $0.5
million for 2003, and $0.3 million for 2002.

We established a supplemental executive retirement
plan (“SERP”) for a select group of our executives who
constitute a “top hat” group as defined by ERISA.

Discretionary employer contributions made to this plan,

: as determined annually by the Board of Directors, are held
* in a Rabbi Trust (“Trust”). The SERD assets are included

i in our financial statements as available-for-sale investments

. within other long-term assets since the Trust permits our

| creditors to access our SERP assets in the event of our

insolvency (see Notes 7 and 17). We have no other claims

i to the assets contained in the Trust. The contributions

) approximated $0.2 million in 2004, less than $0.1 million
; in 2003, and $0.2 million in 2002. We anticipate making
. contributions of $0.2 million in 2005.

1 6. Foreign Currency Exchange

Contracts

 One of our German divisions, whose functional

currency is the euro, secures option and forward

contracts for Japanese yen, British pounds, and

' U.S. dollars solely to mitigate cash flow exposure to

. currency fluctuations. At December 31, 2004, this

division had forward contracts to purchase $1.5 million

1 and sell £0.9 million. These instruments had various

: maturity dates through July 2005. At December

31, 2003, these divisions had options and forward

" contracts to sell £1.8 million. These instruments had

- various maturity dates through December 2004. Since

we do not designate these instruments as hedges for

accounting purposes, we carry these instruments at

! fair value and recognize the change in fair value in

'~ earnings. Such amounts were not material during the
. vears ended December 31, 2004, 2003, or 2002.

| 7. Fair Values of Financial Instruments

- Estimared fair values of financial instruments have been

developed using appropriate methodologies; however,

+ considerable judgment is required to develop these

. estimates. The estimated fair value of existing long-term

. debt is based on rates currently available to us for debt with

¢ similar terms and remaining maturities. The estimated

. fair value of foreign currency contracts (used to mitigate

. cash flow exposures) has been determined as the difference

* berween the current forward rate and the contract rate,

+ multiplied by the notional amount of the contract, or upon

. the estimated fair value of purchased option contracts. The

_ estimates presented below are not necessarily indicative

of amounts that could be realized in a current markert
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exchange. Use of different assumptions or methodologies

could have a significant effect on these estimates.

The net carrying value and estimated fair value of our

financial instruments are as follows:

2004

2003

December 31, Net Carrying Value

Estimated Fair Value

Net CarryingValue  Estimated Fair Value

Financial liabilities:
Long-term debt $ 221,208
Foreign currency contracts (98)

Interest rate contracts -

The carrying value of accounts, notes and other receivables,
marketable equity securities, and accounts payable

approximate fair value.

Our marketable equity securities pertain to the SERP and
are included as a component of other assets (see Notes

7 and 15). Investments in marketable equity securities

are categorized as trading, available-for-sale, or held-
to-maturity. On December 31, 2004 and 2003, we had
only available-for-sale securities, which are stated at fair
value, with unrealized gains and losses, net of deferred
taxes, reported in accumulated other comprehensive loss.
Included in accumulated other comprehensive loss were
unrealized net gains of $0.1 million at December 31, 2004
and 2003. Gross unrealized gains and losses on these

investments were as follows:

December 31, 2004 2003
Gross unrealized gains $ 165 $ 216
Gross unrealized losses ()] (25)
Net unrealized gain (loss) $ 84 $ 191

The cost and fair value amounts of our marketable equity

securities are as follows:

December 31, 2004 2003
Cost $ 735 $ 688
Fair value 891 760

Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc.

$ 236,829 $ 196,602 $ 209,000
(98) - (78)
- - (18)

| 8. Segment Information

As discussed in Note 2, we have identified two reportable
segments: the piano segment and the band & orchestral
instrument segment. We consider these two segments
reportable as they are managed separately and the operating
results of each segment are separately reviewed and

evaluated by our senior management on a regular basis.

Intercompany transactions are generally recorded at an
appropriate discount from comparable third-party prices.
Income from operations for the reportable segments
includes intercompany profit, as well as certain corporate
costs allocated to the segments based primarily on

revenue. Amounts reported as “Other & Elim” include
those corporate costs that were not allocated to the
reportable segments and the remaining intercompany profit
elimination. It also includes corporate assets, elimination of
intercompany interest, and investments in subsidiaries that

do not eliminate within the segments.




The following tables present informartion about our

reportable segments:

Piano Segment Band & Orchestral Segment

i Other &  Consoli-

U.S. Germany Other Total U.s. Other Total Elim dated
2004 ;
Revenues from external §
customers $120,387 $48,348 $34953  $203,688  $165,652 $5,694  §$171346 % ~  $375,034
Operating profit . = 13,688 11,968 3,999 29,655 7,175 (156) 7,019 (2,433) 34,241
Interest income ©(23) (44) (181) (248) (2,581) - (2.581) - (2,829)
Interest expense ‘ 9,690 35 250 9,975 25,862 3 25,865 (19,574) 16,266
Depreciation and o :
amortization 4,427 1,369 348 6,144 4,477 36 4513 526 11,183
Income tax provision B ,;
(benefit) 3,870 3,093 1,336 8,299 (3.829) 6l (3.768) 3,569 8,100
Net income (loss) 1,780 9,929 2,878 ‘4.58‘7 (12,052) {77 (12,229) 13,509 15,867
Capital expenditures © 2,229 915 304 3|4418 1,621 44 1,665 73 5,186
Property 57,931 15,799 2211 75,941 25,765 1,057 26,822 181 102,944
Total assets 7.178,262 85,033 23,349 286,644 371,786 11,476 383,262 (192,361) 477,545
2003
Revenues from external l ;
customers $107,997 $47,276 $24,487  $179760  $152,914 $4,546  $157460 % - $337.220
Operating profit |b2.0l8 6,784 2,963 21,765 2,794 145 2,939 (1,880) 22,824
Interest income (26) (66) (20) (112) (2,063) - (2.063) - (2,175)
Interest expense’ 9,594 190 162 9,946 24,485 - 24,485 (20,311) 14,120
Depreciation and ‘
amortization 4,424 1,343 231 5,998 4,430 21 4,451 510 10,959
Income tax provision l :
(benefit) 1,038 2,806 1101 4,945 (5.916) 60 (5.856) 5,609 4,698
Net income (loss) 3,139 4,581 1,901 9.621 (13,163) 87 (13,076) 13,153 9,698
Capital expenditures 1,790 725 229 2,744 2,636 - 2,636 82 5,462
Property 58,749 14,909 1,721 75,3?9 23,382 4 23,386 172 98,937
Total assets 139,855 76,307 16,756 232,918 350,10t 3,586 353,687 (140,940) 445,665
2002
Revenues from external
customers $105,842 $38,431 $20316  $164,589  $163,265 $4,443 $167.708  § - $332297
Operating profit 13,392 5,294 2,650 2| ,356 11,923 65 11,988 (1,925) 31,399
Interest income 37) (34) (17) (88) (1,804) - (1,804) - (1,892)
Interest expense 9417 179 154 9,750 24,104 - 24,104 (18,683) 15,171
Depreciation and
amortization 4,495 1,295 231 6,021 4,483 20 4,503 513 11,037
Income tax provision ‘j
(benefit) . 1,924 2,400 1,009 5,333 (2,568) 77 (2491) 4,308 7,150
Net income (loss) 3,968 3,882 1,691 9,54I (7,566) 16l (7.405) 12,773 14,909
Capital expenditures 2,095 665 15 2,77;5 2,825 - 2,825 4 5,604
Property 60,309 12,940 1,469 74,718 27,668 22 27,690 159 102,567
Total assets 134418 65,726 13,334 388,880 3,192 392,072 (181,819) 423,731

213,478
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19. Summary of Bond Guarantees

On April 19, 2001, we completed a $150.0 million 8.75%
Senior Note offering. We subsequently repurchased $4.7
million of these notes in 2002 and issued $29.0 million

of these notes in 2004. Our payment obligations under

the 8.75% Senior Notes are fully and unconditionally
guaranteed on a joint and several basis by Conn-Selmer,
Leblanc, Steinway, and certain other of our direct and
indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries, each a “Guarantor” (the
“Guarantor Subsidiaries™). These subsidiaries represent all of

our (the “Issuer”) operations conducted in the United States.

The following condensed consolidating supplementary
dara illustrates the composition of the combined
Guarantors. Separate complete financial statements of
the respective Guarantors would not provide additional
material informarion that would be useful in assessing
the financial composition of the Guarantors. No single
Guarantor has any significant legal restrictions on the
ability of investors or creditors to obtain access to its
assets in event of default on the Guarantee other than its

subordination to senior indebtedness.

We record investments in subsidiaries using the cost
method for purposes of the supplemental consolidating
presentation. Earnings of subsidiaries are therefore not
reflected in our investment accounts and earnings. The
principal elimination entries eliminate investments in

subsidiaries and intercompany balances and transactions.

Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc.




Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Condensed Consdlidating Statements of Income

Year Ended December 31,2004 (In Thousands)

‘ Non
Issuer Guarantor Guarantor Reclass/
of Notes Subsidiaries Subsidiaries .Eliminations Consolidated
Net sales 3 - $ 298431 $ 91927 $ (15324) $ 375,034
Cost of sales - 225,872 55,336 (15,307) 265,901
Gross profit - 72,559 36,591 (17) 109,133
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing - 31,692 12,622 18 44,332
General and administrative 8,381 l{,441 6,485 (44) 29,263
Amortization 464 626 4 - 1,094
Other operating (income) expense (6.412) 5,000 1,996 (18) 566
Facility rationalization charges - (363) - (363)
Total operating expenses 2,433 51,396 21,107 (44) 74,892
Income (loss) from operations (2.433) 21,163 15,484 27 34,241
Other income, net 2n (1,694) (1,492) 44 (3.163)
Interest income (14,639) (22?,736) (225) 34,771 (2,829)
Interest expense 15,197 35,552 288 (34.771) 16,266
Income (loss) before income taxes (2.970) (0,041 16,913 (17) 23,967
Income tax provi‘sion (benefit) (3.247) 6,920 4,436 9 8,100
Net income (loss) $ 277 $ 3121 $ 12,477 $ (8) $ 15867
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Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Income

Year Ended December 31,2003 (In Thousands)

Non
Issuer Guarantor Guarantor Reclass/
of Notes Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Net sales $ - $ 268454 $ 79436 $ (10,670) $ 337,220
Cost of sales - 203,514 51,673 (10,520) 244,667
Gross profit - 64,940 27,763 (150) 92,553
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing - 30,327 11,474 (82) 41,719
General and administrative 4,694 13,259 5,181 - 23,134
Amortization 452 698 4 - 1,154
Other operating (income) expense (3,266) 2,962 986 82 764
Facility rationalization charges - 2,958 - - 2,958
Total operating expenses 1,880 50,204 17,645 - 69,729
Income (loss) from operations (1.880) 14,736 10,118 (150) 22,824
Other income, net 7 (2,614) (910) - (3.517)
Interest income (14,630 (20,895) (86) 33,436 (2,175)
Interest expense 13,125 34,079 352 (33,436) 14,120
Income (loss) before income taxes (382) 4,166 10,762 (150) 14,396
Income tax provision (benefit) (134) 865 4,046 (79) 4,698
Net income (loss) $ (248) $ 3,301 $ 6716 $ 71) $ 9,698

Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc.




Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Income

Year Ended December 31,2002 (In Thousands)

: Non
Issuer Guarantor Guarantor Reclass/
of Notes Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Net sales 3$ - $ 278421 $ 65065 $ (11,189) $ 332,297
Cost of sales - 204,036 42,205 (11,095) 235,146
Gross profit - 74,385 22,860 (94) 97,151
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing - 31,136 10,048 (55) 41,129
General and administrative 4,677 i3,373 4,467 - 22,517
Amortization 452 L 698 4 - 1154
Other operating (income) expense (3.204) 1'3,223 878 55 952
Total operating expenses 1,925 48,430 15,397 - 65,752
Income (loss) from operations (1,925) 25,955 7,463 (94) 31,399
Other income, net (65) (2,381) (1,493) - (3,939)
Interest income (14,236) (19,413) (51 31,808 (1,892)
Interest expense 13,125 33,521 333 (31,808) 15,171
Income (loss) before inceme taxes (749) i4,228 8,674 (94) 22,059
Income tax provision (beneﬁt) (185) 4,033 3317 (15) 7,150
Net income (loss) $ (564) $ 10,195 $ 5357 3 (79) $ 14,909
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Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheets

December 31,2004 (In Thousands)

Non
Issuer Guarantor Guarantor Reclass/
of Notes Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Assets
Current assets:

Cash $ - $ 44,990 $ 14238 $ (31.856) $ 27,372

Accounts, notes and other

receivables, net - 74,805 13,254 - 88,059

Inventories - 127,577 46,034 (1,265) 172,346

Prepaid expenses and other

current assets 1,007 3,956 974 - 5,937

Deferred tax assets - 9,695 5,352 - 15,047
Total current assets 1,007 261,023 79,852 (33,121) 308,761
Property, plant and equipment, net I8l 83,713 19,072 (22) 102,944
Investment in subsidiaries 69,643 278,513 - (348,156) -
Trademarks - 7,625 4,700 - 12,325
Goodwill - 17,973 13,881 - 31,854
Other intangibles, net 2,938 2,352 - - 5,290
Other assets 3,126 10,241 3,004 - 16,371
Total assets $ 76,895 $ 661,440 $ 120,509 $ (381,299) $ 477,545
Liabilites and Stockholders’
Equity
Current liabilities:

Current portion of long-term

debt $ - $ 6972 $ 7240 $ - $ 14212

Accounts payable 677 10,716 3,396 - 14,789

Other current liabilities 5618 21,950 16,635 31y 43,892
Total current liabilities 6,295 39,638 27,271 311) 72,893
Long-term debt 175,929 64,507 - (31,856) 208,580
Intercompany (137,549) 139,993 (2,444) - -
Deferred tax liabilities 63 18,843 7,334 - 26,240
Other non-current liabilities 892 1,784 21,603 - 24,279
Total liabilities 45,630 264,765 53,764 (32,167) 331,992
Stockholders’ equity 31,265 396,675 66,745 (349,132) 145,553
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 76,895 $ 661,440 $ 120,509 $ (381,299) $ 477,545

Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc,




Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheets

December 31,2003 (In Thousands)

| Non
Issuer Guarantor Guarantor Reclass/
of Notes Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Assets
Current assets:

Cash 3$ - $ | 2,?55 $ 8792 $ 21,236 $ 42283

Accounts, notes and other - 63,‘11 80 13,209 14 76,403

receivables, net ‘

Inventories - 1 171922 35,238 (1,131 152,029

Prepaid expenses and other 660 2,833 1,040 - 4,533

current assets . ‘

Deferred tax assets - 8,157 4,894 (29) 13,022
Total current assets 660 204,347 63,173 20,090 288,270
Property, plant and equipment, net 172 82,131 16,634 - 98,937
Investment in subsidiaries 69,643 237‘.‘82l - (307,464) ~
Trademarks : - 6,280 4,039 - 10,319
Goodwill - 181795 12,870 - 31,665
Other intangibles, net 3,297 2\1,478 7 - 5,782
Other assets 1,478 8 ,59| 623 - 10,692
Total assets $ 75250 $ 56();443 $ 97346 $ (287,374) $ 445,665
Liabilities and Stockhoiders’

Equity
Current liabilities: ‘

Current portion of |oﬁg-€erm $ - $ 6,559 3 4,079 $ - $ 10,638

debt

Accounts payable 123 7,881 3,550 - 11,554

Other current iiabi]ifies (14,261) 3‘3.572 14,103 (302) 39,112
Total current liabilities (14,138) 54012 21,732 (302) 61,304
Long-term debt 145,369 19,359 - 21,236 185,964
Intercompany (112,543) 116,840 (4311 14 -
Deferred tax liabilities - 16,384 9,181 - 25,565
Other non-current liabilities 515 1,720 17,962 - 20,197
Total liabilities 19,203 208315 44,564 20,948 293,030
Stockholders' equity 56,047 352,128 52,782 (308,322) 152,635
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 75250 $ 550,443 $ 97346 $ (287,374) $ 445665
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Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31, 2004 (In Thousands)

Non
Issuer Guarantor Guarantor Reclass/
of Notes Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations  Consolidated
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ 277 $ 32 $ 12477 $ 8) $ 15867
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to
cash flows from operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 526 8,904 1,756 3 11,183
Amortization of bond premium (230) - - - (230)
Facility rationalization charges - (363) - - (363)
Deferred tax expense (benefit) 63 921 (2.461) (1,020) (2.497)
Tax benefit assaciated with
stock option exercises 759 - - - 759
Other 0] 292 174 - 459
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts, notes and leases receivable - (1,313) 1,020 - (293}
Inventories - 5,330 (3,347) 20 2,003
Prepaid expenses and other assets (1,974) 269 (1,413) - (3.118)
Accounts payable 554 1,548 (683) - 1419
Other liabilities 19,487 (20,923) 1,479 1,011 1,054
Cash flows from operating activities 19,455 (4,584) 9,002 - 23,873
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures (73) (3,850} (1,263) - (5,186)
Proceeds from sales of fixed assets 9 1,206 18 - 1,233
Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired - (36,859) 92 - (36,767)
Cash flows from investing activities (64) (39.503) (1,153) - (40,720)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings under lines of credit - 193,406 19,473 {53,092) 159,787
Repayments under lines of credit (24) (140,290) (16,538) - (156,852)
Debt issuance costs (105) - - - (105)
Repayment of long-term debt - (7,555) - - (7,555)
Proceeds from issuance of stock 5,744 - - - 5,744
Intercompany dividends - 3,667 (3.667) - -
Intercompany transactions (25,006) 27,594 (2,588) - -
Cash flows from financing activities (19,391) 76,822 (3.320) (53.092) 1,019
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash - 17 97
Increase {decrease) in cash - 32,735 5,446 (53,092) (14,911)
Cash, beginning of period 12,255 8,792 21,236 42,283
Cash, end of period - $ 44,990 $ 14238 $ (31.856) $ 27372
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Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows'
Year Ended December 31, 2003 (In Thousands)

Non
Issuer | Guarantor Guarantor Reclass/
of Notes Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations  Consolidated

Cash flows from operating activities: ‘
Net income (loss) $  (48) & $ 3301 $ 6716 $ an $ 9,698

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss)
to cash flows from operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 510 8,854 1,595 - 10,959
Facility rationalization charges - 4,158 - - 4,158
Deferred tax expense (benefit) - (4,935) 1,518 816 (2,601)
Other 1 178 140 - 329
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts, notes and leases receivable - i 2411 464 (92) 2,783
Inventories ‘ - i 6,485 738 150 7,373
v Prepaid expenses and other assets (496) (174) : (187) - (857)
Accounts payable 25 948 35 78 1,086
Other liabilities 197 (1.187) (150) (895) (2,035)
Cash flows from operating activities (N : 20,039 10,869 (14) 30,893
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures (82) (4,426) (954) - (5.462)
Proceeds from sales 6f fixed assets - i 10 - - 10
Capital contribution to subsidiary 1,370 (5,083) 3,713 - ~
Cash flows from investing activities 1,288 (9.499) 2,759 - (5,452)
Cash flows from financing activities:
BorroWings under lines of credit - 5119 5,487 - 10,606
Repayments under lines of credit 29) (15.129) (3,197) 10,039 (8,316)
Repaymenit of long-term debt - (6,512) - - (6,512)
Proceeds from issuance of siock 1,455 - - - 1,455
Intercompany dividends - 6,194 (6.194) - -
Intercompany transactions (2,713) " 10,877 (8,178) 14 -
Cash flows from financing activities (1,287 . 549 (12,082) 10,053 (2,767)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash - ‘ - 510 - 510
Increase in cash - 11,089 2,056 10,039 23,184
Cash, beginning of period : - 1,166 6,736 11,197 19,099
Cash, end of period $ - t $ 12,255 $ 8792 $ 21236 $ 42,283

2004 Annual Report 63




Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31, 2002 {In Thousands)

Non
Issuer Guarantor Guarantor Reclass/
of Notes Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ (564) $ 10,195 $ 5357 $ 79 $ 14,909

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss)
to cash flows from operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 513 8,978 1,546 - 11,037

Deferred tax expense (benefit) - (687) (1,778} 1,271 (1,194)

Other - l61 173 - 334
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts, notes and leases receivable - 6,484 (350) (44) 6,090

Inventories - 2,554 771) 94 1,877

Prepaid expenses and other assets (462) (2,293) (149) - (2,904)

Accounts payable 14 850 937 44 [,845

Other liabilities 1,524 (2,904) (429) (1,286) (3,095)

Cash flows from operating activities 1,025 23,338 4,536 - 28,899

Cash flows from investing activities:

Capital expenditures 4) (4,920) (680) - (5,604)
Proceeds from sales of fixed assets - 4 - - 4
Capital contribution to subsidiary - (705) 705 - -
Cash flows from investing activities “4) (5.621) 25 - (5,600)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Borrowings under lines of credit 33 121,848 5,723 - 127,604
Repayments under lines of credit - (132,434) (5.428) 10,553 (127,309)
Repayment of long-term debt - (6,352) - - (6,352)
Repurchase of long-term debt {4,655) - - - (4,655)
Proceeds from issuance of stock 994 - - - 994
Intercompany dividends - 787 {787) ~ -
Intercompany transactions 2,607 (2.072) (535) - -
Cash flows from financing activities (1,021) (18,223) (1,027) 10,553 (9.718)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash - - 2n - (27
Increase (decrease) in cash - (506) 3,507 10,553 13,554
Cash, beginning of period - 1,672 3,229 644 5,545
Cash, end of period $ - $ 1,166 $ 6736 $ 11197 $ 19099

Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc.




20. Quarterlf‘Finan‘cial Data (Unaudited)

The following is a summary of unaudited results of operations, in thousands except share and per share data.

For the years ended December 31, ‘ 2004
First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter  Fourth Quarter

Net sales $ 90,06l $ 83,688 $ 94,653 $ 106,632
Gross profit 25,725 24,403 25,896 33,109
Net income 3,344 2,714 2828 6,981
Basic income per share $ 0.41 $ 0.34 $ 0.35 $ 0.87
Diluted income per share $ 039 $  om $ 034 $ 085
Weighted average shares: )

Basic ' 8,210:407 7,957,483 7,998,481 8,018,655

Diluted 8,51 9;707 8,340,726 8,282,498 8,229,775
For the years ended December 31, 2003

First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter  Fourth Quarter

Net sales $ 82:,509 $ 78,035 $ 82,546 $ 94,130
Gross profit 20,832 22,713 22,891 26,117
Net income 1683 2,160 1,838 5017
Basic income per share $ ?0,08 $ 0.24 $ 0.21 $ 0.56
Diluted income per share $ ‘ZOAOB $ 0.24 $ 0.21 % 0.55
Weighted avérage shares:

Basic 8,906,238 8,906,238 8,930,613 8,955,178

Diluted 8,906,418 8,906,238 8,931,709

9,039,770
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Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Schedule Il - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

(In Thousands)
Additions Foreign
Balance at Charged to Currency
Beginning Costs and Transiation Balance at
Year ended December 31, of Year Expenses Acquisitions'  Adjustments Deductions End ofYear
Reserves deducted from
assets to which they apply:
Allowance for doubtful accounts:
2002 $ 10,909 $ 242 $ - $ 9l $ 147 2 $ 11,389
2003 11,389 218 - 65 (1,728)2 9,944
2004 9,944 848 1,555 39 {575) 11,811
Inventory obsolescence:
2002 $ 4739 $ 1,644 $ - $ 95 $ 987) $ 5491
2003 5,491 731 - 126 (633) 5715
2004 5715 1,229 2,703 30 (2,103) 7,574
Reserves included in other
current liabilities:
Accrued warranty expense:
2002 $ 2,221 $ 950 $ - 3 152 $ (966) $ 2357
2003 2,357 1,361 - 198 (1,314) 2,602
2004 2,602 932 - 60 (1,455) 2,139
Accrued environmental expense:
2002 $ 500 $ 380 $ - $ - $ (270) $ 610
2003 610 267 - - (87) 790
2004 790 135 815 - (207) 1,533
Reserve for recourse obligation
on customer notes:
2002 $ 849 $ - - $ (849)* $ -
2003 - - - - - -
2004 - - 1,138 - 21 1,159

Note:

' Reserves recognized in connection with the Leblanc acquisition. (See Note 3.)

2 Represents accounts written off, net of recoveries, and reclassifications to and from other accounts.

Steinway Musical [nstruments, Inc.




Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements
with Accountants on Accounting and
Financial Disclosure

Not applicable.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Ovur principal executive officer and our principal financial
officer, after evaluating, together with management, the
effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure
contirols and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) as of December 31, 2004, the end
of the period covered by this report, have concluded that,

as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were
adequate and effective to ensure that material information
relating to our company and our consolidated subsidiaries
would be made known to them by others within those

entities,

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were changes in our company’s internal control over
financial reporting that occurred during the fourth quarter
of 2004 which resulted from control improvement and
remediation efforts. These changes have not materially
affected, and are not likely to materially affect, our

company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The management of Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) is responsible for establishing
and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a — 15(f) and 15d-15(f) under

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or
under the supervision of, the Company’s principal executive and principal financial officers, and effected by the Company’s
board of directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of the Company’s financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles. Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and

dispositions of the assets of the Company;

(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(3) provide reasonable assurance that receipts and expendicures of the Company are being made only in accordance with

authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and

{4) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of

the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Internal Control over financial reporting includes the controls themselves, monitoring and internal auditing practices and

actions taken to correct deficiencies as identified.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate

because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

The Company’s management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as

of December 31, 2004. The scope of the assessment of effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2004 did not include such internal controls of Leblanc, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary
consisting of net assets purchased from G. Leblanc Corporation on August 12, 2004. Leblanc’s financial statements include
total assets of $36.4 million and revenues of $9.6 million, which represenc 8% and 3%, respectively, of the consolidated
financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2004. In making this assessment, the Company’s
management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Coramission
(COSO) in Internal Control — Integrated Framework. Management reviewed the resules of its assessment with the Audit

Committee of its Board of Directors.

Based on its assessment, management determined that, as of December 31, 2004, the Company’s internal control over

financial reporting is effective.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the financial statements included
in this annual report has issued an attestation report on management’s assessment of the Company’s internal control over

financial reporting.

By: /s/ Dana D. Messina By: /s/ Dennis M. Hanson
Dana D. Messina Dennis M. Hanson
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
March 30, 2005 March 30, 2005

Steinway Musical Instraments, Inc.




Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc.
Waltham, Massachusetts

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting, that Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”)
maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 based on criteria established

in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. As described in Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, management
excluded from their assessment the internal control over financial reporting at its Leblanc business, which was acquired on
August 12, 2004 and whose financial statements reflect total assets and revenues constituting 8 and 3 percent, respectively,
of the related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2004. Accordingly, our
audit did not include the internal control over financial reporting at Leblanc. The Company’s management is responsible for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an dpinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the

effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of;;the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal contrbl over financial reporting was maimained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in

the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s
principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s
board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for extérnal purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that
(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurarely and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasondble assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts
and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of
the company§ and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,

use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or
improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected
on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to
future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequare because of changes in conditions, or that the

degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (continued)

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting

as of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria established in Internal Control

— Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Also in

our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004, based on the criteria established in /nternal Control — Integrared Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule as of and for the year ended December 31,
2004 of the Company and our report dated March 30, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements

and financial statement schedule.

/s/ Deloitte ¢ Touche LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 30, 2005

teinway Musical Instruments, Inc.




ftem 9B. Other Information

Deloitte & Touche LLP (“Deloitte”), a member firm of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“DTT”), is the Company’s
independent registered public accounting firm. Deloitte
has informed the Company’s Audit Committee that during
2004 a member firm of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in Japan
provided services related to the Japanese Consumption

Tax filings for a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
based in the United States of America. A Consumption
Tax Representative is allowed to handle the Japanese
Consumption Tax procedures that foreign corporations

or nonresidents without a fixed place of business in

Japan ate required to fulfill, including filing Japanese
Consumption Tax returns, responding to notices, prepare
applications and pay taxes in accordance with the Japanese
Consumption Tax Law. The Company engaged the DTT

member firm to perform such services.

The DTT member firm received information from
Company management and calculated the Japanese
Consumption Tax on the applicable transactions for

the period. After review of the tax filing by Company

management, the Company remitted taxes due to the DTT .

member firm, whick upon notification of receipt from the

ank, remitted such funds to the tax authorities’ authorized |
bank. tted such funds to th th

Japanese bank account. The DTT member firm was paid
$1,400 for the completion of the tax forms and provision
of this service. Having custody of the Company cash for
payment to the tax authority is a relationship that might
bear on Deloitte’s independence. The total of such receipts
and disbursements during 2004 was $19,000. Deloitte
informed the Company’s Audit Committee on December
1, 2004 of this issue and immediately discontinued the
receipt of any tax payments from the Company. The Audit
Committee, after reviewing the facts, determined that the
service did not impair Deloitte’s independence. Deloitte
recently notified the Securities and Exchange Commission

of this event."

PART Il

~ltem 10. Directors and Executive
' Officers of the Registrant

' The information called for by this item is hereby

* incorporated by reference ro the Registrant’s definirive

- Proxy Statement for the fiscal year ended December
31,2004, which Proxy Statemenct will be filed with the

. Securities and Exchange Commission no later than 120

- days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this report.

Item 1. Executive Compensation

The information called for by this item is hereby
incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s definitive
Proxy Statement for the fiscal year ended December

31, 2004, which Proxy Statement will be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission no later than 120
days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this report.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management

The information called for by this item is hereby
incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s definitive
Proxy Statement for the fiscal year ended December

31, 2004, which Proxy Statement will be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission no later than 120
days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this report.

Item 3. Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions

The information called for by this item is hereby
incorporated by reference to the Regiscrant’s definitive
Proxy Statement for the fiscal year ended December

31, 2004, which Proxy Statement will be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission no later than 120

days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this report.
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Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and
Services

The informarion called for by chis item is hereby
incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s definitive
Proxy Statement for the fiscal year ended December
31, 2004, which Proxy Statement will be filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission no later than 120

days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this report.

PART IV

item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement

Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K

(a) The following documents are filed as a part of

this report:

Sequential Page Numb

er

I. Financial Statements:

Report of independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Statements of Income
Years Ended December 31,2004, 2003, and 2002

Consolidated Balance Sheets
as of December 31,2004 and 2003

Ccensolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the
Years Ended December 31,2004, 2003, and 2002

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for
the Years Ended December 31,2004, 2003, and 2002

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
2. Financial Statement Schedules:

Schedule {l —Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
3. Exhibits:

The Exhibits listed befow are filed as part of, or
incorporated by reference into, this Report.

Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc.
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Exhibit

No. "

Description

2.1

3

32
33
4.1

4.2

4.3

44

4.5

4.6

Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of july 20, 2000,
by and among Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc.and
BIM Holding AG with respect to all the capital stock of
United Musical Instruments Holdings, Inc.®

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Registrant®
Bylaws of Registrant?
Amendment No. | to Bylaws of Registrant*

Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, i
dated as of September (4, 2000,among The Selmer
Company, Inc., Steinway, Inc., and United Musical

" Instruments USA, Inc., as borrowers; certain wholly

owned subsidiaries of the borrowers (as may be
amended from time to time), as guarantors; the several
lenders from time to time parties thereto; and GMAC
Commercial Credit LLC,as Administrative Agent’

First Amendment to Second Amended and Restated
Credit Agreement, dated as of March 2,2001, to

the Existing Credit Agreement, by and among The
Selmer Company, Inc., Steinway, Inc., United Musical
Instruments USA, Inc,, as borrowers; certain wholly
owned subsidiaries of the borrowers (as may be
amended from time to time), as guarantors; the several
lenders from time to time parties thereto; and GMAC
Commercial Credit LLC,as Administrative Agent'?

Second Amendment to the Second Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement dated as of April 19,2001
among The Selmer Company, Inc., Steinway, Inc. and
United Musical Instruments USA, Inc., as borrowers:
certain wholly owned subsidiaries of the borrowers
(as may be amended from time to time), as guarantors;
the several lenders from time to time parties thereto;
and GMAC Commercial Credit LLC, as Administrative
Agent'®

Third Amendment to the Second Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement dated as of August 31,2001
among The Selmer Company, Inc., Steinway, Inc. and
United Musical Instruments USA, Inc., as borrowers;
certain wholly owned subsidiaries of the borrowers
(as may be amended from time to time), as guarantors;
the several lenders from time to time parties thereto;
and GMAC Commercial Credit LLC, as Administrative
Agent!! '

Fourth Amendment to the Second Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement dated as of July 17,2002
by and among The Selmer Company, Inc., Steinway, Inc.,
United Musical Instruments USA, Inc., as borrowers;
certain wholly owned subsidiaries of the borrowers
(as may be amended from time to time), as guarantors;
the lenders from time to time party to the Agreement;
and GMAC Commercial Credit, LLC, as Administrative
Agent'* :

Fifth Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated
Credit Agreement dated as of January 14,2003 by and
among Conn-Selmer, Inc. fik/a The Selmer Company,

Inc. and the surviving corporation of the merger of
United Musical Instruments USA, Inc. with and into
Conn-Selmer, Inc., Steinway, Inc., as borrowers; certain
wholly owned subsidiaries of the borrowers (as may be
amended from time to time), as guarantors; the lenders, *
from time to time party to the Agreement; and GMAC
Commercial Credit LLC, as Administrative Agent'

4.7

4.8

49

4.10

4.1

412

0.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

Sixch Amendment to the Second Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement dated as of January 31,
2004 by and among Conn-Selmer, Inc. f/k/a The Selmer
Company, inc. and the surviving corporation of the
merger of United Musical Instruments USA, Inc. and
United Musical Instruments Holdings, Inc. with and
into Conn-Selmer, Inc., Steinway, Inc., as borrowers;
those signatories identified as guarantors, the lenders,
and GMAC Commercial Credit LLC, as administrative
agent'®

Seventh Amendment to the Second Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement dated as of May 26, 2004
by and among Conn-Selmer,inc. f/k/a The Selmer
Company, Inc. and the surviving corporation of the
merger of United Musical Instruments USA, Inc. and
United Musical Instrument Holdings with and into
Conn-Selmer, Inc., Steinway, Inc., as borrowers; those
signatories identified as guarantors, the lenders, and
GMAC Commercial Credit LLC, as administrative
agent.'®

Eighth Amendment to the Second Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement dated as of August |1,
2004 by and among Conn-Selmer, Inc. flk/a The Selmer
Company, Inc. and the surviving corporation of the
merger of United Musical Instruments USA, Inc. and
United Musical Instruments Moldings, Inc. with and
into Conn-Selmer, Inc., Steinway, Inc., as borrowers;
those signatories identified as guarantors, the lenders,
and GMAC Commercial Credit LLC, as administrative
agent.

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of August 9,
1993, among Selmer Industries, Inc. and the purchasers
of certain equity securities'

Indenture, dated as of April 19,2001, among Steinway
Musical Instruments, Inc., the subsidiary guarantors
named therein and UBS Warburg, LLC, as the initial
purchaser'?

Exchange Registration Rights agreement, dated as of
May 25, 1995, by and among The Selmer Company, Inc,,
Selmer Industries, Inc., Steinway Musical Properties,
Inc., Steinway, Inc., Boston Piano Company, Inc. and
Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette Corporation?

Employment Agreement, dated May 8, 1989, between
Steinway Musical Properties, Inc. and Thomas Kurrer?

Employment Agreement, dated as of May 1, 1995,
between Steinway Musical Properties, Inc. and Bruce
Stevens’

Employment Agreement Renewal and Amendment
dated January 1, 1997 by and between Steinway Musical
Instruments, Inc. and Bruce Stevens®

Employment Agreement, dated as of May |, 1995,
between Steinway Musical Properties, Inc. and Dennis
Hanson®

Employment Agreement Renewal and Amendment
dated January |, 997 by and between Steinway Musical
Instruments, Inc. and Dennis Hanson®

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 4, 1999,
between the Registrant and Dana Messina’

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 4, 1999,
between the Registrant and Kyle Kirkland”

Environmental Indemnification and Non-Competition
Agreement, dated as of August 9, 1993, between The
Selmer Company, Inc. and Philips Electronics North
American Corporation'
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10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

211
23.1

232
301

31.2

32.1

322

Distribution Agreement, dated November |, 1952, by
and between H. & A. Selmer, Inc. and Henri Selmer &
Cie!

Amended and Restated 1996 Stock Plan of the
Registrant'*

Form of Non-compete Agreement dated July 1996
between Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc. and each of
Thomas Burzycki, Bruce Stevens, Dennis Hanson and
Michael Vickrey*

Employment Agreement dated November 11,2002
between Conn-Selmer, Inc. and John M. Stoner, Jr. '¢

Working Agreement between Conn-Selmer, Inc.
and United Automobile, Aerospace and Agriculture
Implement Workers of America, Local No. 612'°

Working Agreement between Vincent Bach Division of
Conn-Selmer, Inc. and United Automobile, Aerospace
and Agricultural Implement Workers of America Local
No. 634"

Agreement between Conn-Selmer, Inc. and UAW.
Local 2359'¢

Agreement between Steinway, Inc. d/b/a Steinway &
Sons and Local 102 EW.AFL-CIO'¢

Asset Purchase Agreement (the “Asset Purchase
Agreement”) dated July 22,2004 by and between G.
Leblanc Corporation, and Steinway Musical Instruments,
Inc.”

Code of Ethics and Professional Conduct
List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Independent Auditors’ Consent - Deloitte & Touche
LLP

Preferability Letter — Deloitte & Touche LLP'®

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant
to 18 US.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of the Principal Financial Officer pursuant
to 18 US. C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc.

Previously filed with the Commission on February 8, 1994 as an exhibit

to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1.

[

Previously filed with the Commission on June 7, 1995 as an exhibit to

the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K.

w

Previously filed with the Commission on June 7, 1995 as an exhibit to

the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-4.

N

Previously filed with the Commission on May 14, 1996 as an exhibit to

the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1.

o

Previously filed with the Commission on July 25, 996 as an exhibit to
the Registrant's Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement on Form
S-1.

o

Previously filed with the Commission on March 27. 1997 as an exhibit

to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 0-K.

~

Previously filed with the Commission on August 1€, 1999 as an exhibit
to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

@

Previously filed with the Commission on July 27, 2000 as an exhibit to
the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K.

o

Previousty filed with the Commission on September 29, 2000 as an

exhibit to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K.

1© Previously filed with the Commission on August 14, 2001 as an exhibit
to the Registrant’s Quarterly Repart on Form 10-Q,

" Previously filed with the Commission on November 13,2001 as an

exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form [0-Q.

2 Previously filed with the Commission on june 12,2001 as an exhibit to

the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-4.

"? Previously filed with the Commission on March 28,2001 as an exhibit

to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K.

'* Previously filed with the Commission on March 18,2003 as an exhibit

to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form [0-K.

'* Previously filed with the Commission on August 12, 2003 as an exhibit
to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

¢ Previously filed with the Commission on March 16, 2004 as an exhibit

to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form {0-K.

7 Previously filed with the Commission on July 27, 2004 as an exhibit to
the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K.

'® Previously filed with the Commission on August 5, 2004 as an Exhibit to
the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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(b) Reports on Form 8-K
On November 4, 2004 the Company filed a Current
Report on Form 8-K that included a press release issued

on November 4, 2004 announcing Steinway Musical

Instruments, Inc.’s earnings results for the quarter and nine

months ended September 30, 2004.

SIGNATURES ‘

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has
duly caused this repqgt to.be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc.

By: /s/ Dana D. Messina
Dana D. Messina

March 30, 2005
" (Date)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, this rep‘orf has been signed by the following
persons con behalf of the registrant and in the capacities
listen below on March 30, 2005:

Signature

Title

/s/ Dana D. Messina
Dana D. Messina

/st Dennis M. Hanson
Dennis M. Hanson

/s/ Kyle R. Kirkland
Kyle R. Kirkland

/s/ Jobn M. Stoner, Jr.
John M. Stoner, Jr.

/s/ Bruce A. Stevens

Bruce A. Stevens

/s/ Peter McMillan
Peter McMillan

/5! A. Clinton Allen
A. Clinton Allen

/s/ Rudolph K. Kluiber
Rudolph K. Kluiber

Director and Chief Executive

Officer (Principal Executive

Officer)

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and

Accounting Officer)

Chairman of the Board

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures Used by Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc.

We use the non-GAAP measurement EBITDA, which we
define as earnings before net interest expense, lncome taxes,
depreciation and amortization, excluding Adjustments

for non-recurring, infrequent or unusual items. We use
EBITDA because it is useful to management and investors
as a measure of core operating performance. We also
believe EBITDA is helpful in determining our ability to
meet future debt service, capital expenditures and working
capital requirements. In addition, certain of our debt
covenants are based primarily upon calculations using
EBITDA and we use EBITDA as the primary measure

for determining bonuses for our managers. However,
EBITDA should not be construed as a substitute for
operating income or a better indicator of liquidity than

cash fows from operating activities, which are determined

it to better understand our core operating performance on a
going-forward basis. This Adjusted information also provides
meaningful comparisons of performance between periods.
However, there are limitations in the use of such information
because our actual results do include the impact of these
Adjustments. The non-GAAP measures are intended only as

a supplement to the comparable GAAP measures.

Reconciliations — Cash Flows from Operating
Activities to EBITDA (Unaudited)
(InThousands)

Years Ended December 31, 2004 2003
$ 23873 $ 30893

Cash flows from operating activities

Changes in operating assets and

in accordance with GAAPD. liabilicies 1,305 (8.350)
Income taxes, net of deferred tax

In addition, we provide other non-GAAP measurements benefit 10,597 7,299
which present operating results on an Adjusted basis, Net interest expense 13,437 11,945
excluding non-recurring, infrequent or unusual items. Other (625) (329)
These items include costs associated with acquisitions, debt Non-recurring, infrequent or unusual
extinguishment, labor strikes and facility rationalization. cash charges 2255 844
We provide Adjusted financial information because we use EBITDA $ 084 4630
Reconciliations of GAAP Earnings to Adjusted Earnings (Unaudited)
(InThousands Except Per Snare Data)
Years Ended December 31, 2004 2003

GAAP Adjustments Adjusted GAAP Adjustments Adjusted
Net sales $ 375,034 $ - $ 375,034 $ 337,220 $ - $ 337,220
Cost of sales 265,901 (2618) ! 263,283 244,667 (6,044) ¢ 238,623
Gross profit 109,133 2618 111,751 92,553 6,044 98,597
Operating expenses 74,892 3631 75,255 66,771 - 66,771
Facility rationalization - - 2,958 (2,958) * -
Total operating expenses 74,892 363 75,255 69,729 (2,958) 66,771
Income from operations 34,241 2,255 36,496 22,824 9,002 31,826
Other income, net (3.163) - (3.163) (3,517) - 3.517)
Net interest expense 13,437 - 13,437 11,945 - 11,945
Income before income taxes 23,967 2,255 26,222 14,396 9,002 23,398
Income tax provision 8,100 7627 8,862 4,698 2,935° 7,633
Net income $ 15867 $ 1,493 $ 17,360 $ 9,698 $ 6,067 $ 15,765
Earnings per share — basic $ 1.97 $ 2.16 $ 1.09 $ 1.77
Earnings per share — diluted $ 1.91 $ 2.09 $ 1.09 $ 1.77

" Reflects $1 .4 million of employee severance costs associated with plant closures and
$1.2 million of charges relating to the step up of Leblanc inventory.

? Reflects a gain on the sale of property and equipment associated with plant closures.

* Reflects the tax effect of Adjustments at the Company's effective rate for the period.
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“ Reflects $1.9 million paid in accordance with the terms of expired labor contracts;
$1.3 million impact of labor strikes; $1.2 million from a lower-of-cost-or-market
adjustment to inventory and $1.7 million of employee severance costs, both
asscciated with plant closures.

* Reflects asset impairment charges related to plant closures.
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Shareholder Information

Shareholders of Record Corporate Headquarters
The Company’s common stock is comprised of two classes: | Steinway Musical Instruments, Inc.
Class A and Ordinary. With the exception of disparate ; 800 South Street, Suite 305
voting power, both classes are substantially identical., Waltham, MA 02453
There are approximately 2,900 beneficial shareholders of www.steinwaymusical.com

the Company’s Ordinary common stock. There are two

holders of f the Class A k. :
e o record of the Class A common stoc \' Annual Meeting of Sharehciders
} Thursday, May 19, 2005, 10:00 a.m.
SEC Filings ’ at Corporate Headquarters

All of our filings with the Securities and Exchange

" Commission are available through the Investor Stock Exchange Listing

Réla:tions page on our website.'(.:opies are.also New York Stock Exchange,
available free of charge by writing to Julie A.

‘ Common Stock
Theriault, Director of Corporate Communications,

at the Company’s headquarters. ID

NYSE.

Certifications

On May 19, 2004, the Company submmed an

unqualified certification to the NYSE regarding the Independent Registered
Company’s compliance with NYSE corporate governance ~ Public Accounting Firm

hstmg standards as of the date of certification. i: Deloitte & Touche LLP

200 Berkeley S
The Company filed with the SEC, as an exhibit to its Bostorirl\j[;yo;lreleg

- 2004 Annual Report on Form 10-K, Sarbanes — Oxley
Act Section 302 certifications regarding the quality of

- the Company’s public disclosure. 5’ Transfer Agent & Registrar
g Continental Stock Transfer
| & Trust Company
d li ;
Dividend Policy 17 Battery Place

The'Company is restricted by the terms of its outstandmg New York, NY 10004
debt and financing agreements from paying cash
dividénds on its common stock. The Company intends
to retain earnings to reduce outstanding indebtedness  Legal Counsel
and to fund the growth of the business. ¢ Milbank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy
. 601 South Figueroa Street
Los Angeles, CA 90017
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